THE FIRST SHERIFFS OF

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA:

1915-1953
SHERIFF ADEN W. TURNER
SHERIFF PAUL C. BRYAN

By W iliam P. Caluil

Today, the Broward Sherift’s Office i1s widely recognized as
an efficient, well-managed law enforcement agency with a
cadre of professionally-trained deputies and other
personnel providing needed services to the people of the
county. With more than 5,400 employees, it is the largest
nationally accredited sheriff’s office in the United States.
For the first 18 years of its existence, however, it was a small
semi-rural department, the county’s first two sheriffs having
at most a handful of deputies to assist them. During this
early period — and for many years afterward - the Broward
Sheriff’s Office was plagued by corruption and
mismanagement, and many of its deputies would have been
more at home in the Wild West than they would in any
modern law enforcement agency.

William P2 Cahill reaches ar Florida Atdanrie University, and is currendy in the process of
writing a complere hismory of the Broward Sheaft's Office, from its earliest years up through
the present. Dir Cahill would like wo grarefully acknowledge the assistance of the staff of
the Broward County Historical Commission, who over the pase several years have provided
much needed help in accessaing the archival records which have shed =0 much light on the
activiies of the ;'-:|1:||:|.I:."-u tirst sherffe Thanks are also dise wo BS0) |':|'-|_'|1'.5r1.' Shenitt _||5-,'

Williames, whose help was invaluable in gerting this peoject off the ground.
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THE NEW COUNTY

The _.__2__.__:_"_—_._._._.. af Broward
County prew nu_..:p-_._. i the vears
"._..._—:.._...m_uz e @fcation m __..___m. mode
thian _._E.._L!.u_.._._._._u. _.___._1_._._....______.. firit decade
and o half of irs exisrence — inCreasing
from less than 5,000 in 1915, to over
MO when the 1930 Census was
fakien.! Althiugh 1920 saor the s of
the Crreat Flormida Land Bogon, by 19265
it was over, and the value of land in
Sourth  Flonida had  dropped
precipaously, For residents of Browand,
the Depression would armve three years
before the stock market crash of 1929
beought it (o the rest of the couniry,
In Seprember 1930, o calamsty ocourmed
which conmibuted significantly m the
ceonomec decline of ihe regpon. This
was a camsirophic hurnicane that lefr
400 people dead in Flonda, The
manster storim did massive damage in
M, canmsingg absour 10 peaple in thar
city s lose their lives, Forn Lawdendale,
Hollywood and Dania were alzo
devastared by this husncane = at leust
I3 people were killed in Fort
Lauderdale, 25 in Hollywood and nine
in Drania.?

The major legislanve change thar
affected baw enforcement dunmg this
pericd was the enactment of
“Prohihition™ lows, First through local
elecuon, then by site lno; and 3 few
years later through an amcndment to
the United Stares Constiourion,
Prohibinon was in effece in Broward
durmg wirtually the entire penod 0
which the county’s firse rao sheriffs
werved. However, enfirced abatmenee
from alechobe beverages wis nosisbod
by many Beossind ressdencs, amd i was
during the Prohibinon cra char their
commity sear first ¢amed the nickname
Port Liguordale™ This was due not
only towidespread liguors lnw violations
in the local asea, but also beeause the
county’s coastline was ideal foe
smagrehing aleohobc beverages inm the
Uinzted Seates from the ssland of Bimim
in the Bahamas, Destroying stlls and
ﬁua_.l_-._mh_.?_. r.-u_-.__u_u_ .uu_.n_-._.._u_l.ﬂl..._ a._.._._—u—_-._ .u_u.r.._ul _L1
masch of the tme of las enforeemient
officials in Broward, particalarly the

coumniy s first ran shenfts

SHERIEF
A. W. TURNER

(1915-1922)

oan after the creation of

Broward County in 1915, a
primary elecnon was held w select
officers for the new county, This was,
in effeet, the official elecnon because
the Governor of Florda had promized
o appoint o office the men selecred
in the pnmary. In thar conrest, the
winner of the mce for Sheaft was a
local businessman, AN Turner, who
soon began a long and colorful carcer
a2 Broward's firet Sheniff. In a four-way
codest, Me Turner receved 295 votes,
more than the combined ol of all
three of his opponcents. Following his
election w the office of Sheniff, the o
{anmplerdade Nemtine! said of Turner: *“We
named one of the best men for the

place. He docs not dnnk, is a man of
the very best habits™ The Shenff-clect
made a1 somewhat more modest
assessment, saving that “you have put
the wrong man L this mme, ot 1wl
_.__}”.q._.:a._.. Vo 1..:.: _ a..__.._-_. _.___ _._.._.... _._._._- ._._____.
s far as 1 see it.”™ Best man for the
job or wrong man for the job — two
discrepant views, these would each
cvenmally be held by many Broward
residents,  sometimes
simuttneosly!

Inn Oderaber 1915, Aden Waterman
Turner was sworn in as the Shenft of
Broward County, Flonda. Turner was
a mdve Florudian, born in Massau
County, near Jacksonville, in 1865, He
hand come oo the Broward aoen in 19405,

County

Hromard Cowniy Comrthonsr, arma 1915
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at which time he was supplying humber
o the Florida East Coast Railway. He
was reportedly =o impressed with the
fernlity of the =oil in this region that
i 17 he sertled in Pompano as a
farmer and road contractor, Turner
was very popular in the community,
ared thus it was not surprising that he
won election ag Brovward's Shenff, the
first of his four electoral victones for
that office.®

When Turner ok office, the
County Commission had already
negotiated the purchase of the old
schoolhouse in Fort Lauderdale for
conversion o the counnys courthouse,
amd armangements had been made o
begin construction of a jail.” At the
Commission mecting on November 5,
1915, it was decded that there were
already enough prisoncrs in custody 1o
jusiify creanng a “convict camp.” To
oversee the work of the “road gang.”
R. R. Pricst was appointed Super-
intendent of Public Roads ae a salary
of 364 per month, and the Shenff was
authonzed w deliver prisoners to Priess
for work upon the roads of the
county.”

Turner was i office less than reo
months when, on Movember 13, 1915,
the first murder in Broward County
tork place, Mehough they had been the
best of friends, Jim Reed shot and
killed William Smith in an argument
over a car The Ford Lavderslade Semtines,
blaming this crime on aleohol, used i
o promate the cause of Prohibitgon:
“Another question of too much
whiskey; there should be none in the
world, We stand for Stare-wide
prohibition. This is the first murder we
have had in the new county of
Brownrd; but unlbess whiskey 15 done

away with, it will nor be the las!™

Prohibitionist sentiment was
strong in Broward, and as a resulr,
when a “wer or dry elecion™ was held
i August 1916, the countywade vore
was 421 to 170 i favor of Prolibitgon,
The “dry™ vores were in the majonty
in all six of the countys preciners,
ranging from Hallandale, which
registered only a single “wet” vote, w
Pompano, where Prohibiton barely

squeaked by, 32-30. The biggest
surprise, apparently, was Fort
Lauderdale, where the ano-Prohihinon
forces had expected a majority of
about 50 votes Instead, the “wets™
were defeated in that precinet as well,
by a vore of 212 to 108,® However, as
Sheriff Turner and other law
enforcement officials in Broward
wonild quickly leaen, this elecnion defear
only seemed o make the “wers™
thirstier than ever.

The Governors appointment of
Broward County officials in 1915 was
r.:nl:r effective undl the fu[lm'ing year,
when regular electnons were to be held,
Therefore, if he wanted to remain
Sheaff, A W Turner would have w
run in the 1916 Democratic primary,
This he did, afer paying the required
$30 filing fee M The incumbent Shenff
securcd the Democratc nominanon
when he casily defeared his opponent,

C. L. Harper, 440 vores to 181 votes,
and in the November 1916 general
election, Turner ran unopposed.® In
those days, Broward was such a heavily
Democratic county thar winning the
nomination in the Democranc Party
primary was mnmamount to electon,
and the Republicans often didn’t even
bather to field a candidate for many
lseal offices. Shenff Turner began his
second term on Jamuary 2, 1917, 15
months after he fiest wok office

During Turner’s first years in
office, the local newspapers carried an
ever increasing number of stones
abour the Shenff arrestng boodegpers,
destroving stlls, intercepting “booze
boats,” and conducting liquor raids,
Under the heading “BOOTLEGGER
GETS SIX MONTHS AND $100,7
the Fert Lawderdale Sentined reported in
May 1917 that “Shenff Turner has cut
another bootlegger nick in his gun
stock.”™™  An Aupust 1919 heading
reported “SHERIFF CAPTURED
THREE MORE STILLS” with the
item which followed concluding that
Shenff Turner seemed “determined to
break up the boore business in this
county.”™  Still another article in
August 1920 = “MOONSHINE
LIQUOR USER IN TROUBLE™ -

reported that “the scarch for a
moonshine still or rwo, locared
somewhere in the Everglades west of
Dravie, is the almost daily sccuparion
of Sherff AW, Turner now™

Although destroyving  srills
occupied much of the Shenff’s dme,
enforcement of Prohibiton laws also
invalved efforts o capture boats
smuggling aleoholic beverages into
Florida. Sometimes these seizures
required cooperation berween the
Biroward Shenff s Office and one or
more other liw enforcement agencies.
For example, when the Carme May vas
captured in January 1920, halfway
between Fort Lauderdale and
Pompana, this operation was carned
out by Shenff Turner’s depury and
three federal officers.™ Another
setzure involved a boat thar traveled up
the New River in order o land above
the city of Fort Lauderdale. The boar
had 31 cases of liquor aboard and was
captured by a party of officers
consisting of the Shenff, his regular
i!v::rlul}' and one specul -ﬂ:.'pul:r.. i twa
Port Lauderdale police officers”

OF course, the Sherff's role was a
multi-faceted one, and while his
enforcement of Prohibidon laws
received a lor of public attention, this
was only a part of Turner’s job, Traffic
enforcement was one of the ather
tasks for the Shenff s Office, and this
included making sure vehicles were
propety registered. It also meant the
Sheriff had 1o oceasionally medime
berween the public and an overzealous
depury. Such a siruanon arose late in
1916, Although the required county
automobile license in Broward ran
from Ogctober 1 of one year through
October 1 of the fl::lllnwtnl., year,
virtually all of the tourists visiting
Broward had tags running from
January 1 1o January 1. It seems thar
even thowgh a Michigan tounsts plares
read that they were valid *until January
1, 1M7" one of Sheriff Turner’s
deputics decided that the plates had
nonetheless expired in Browand county
on Oewober 1, 1916! Therefore the
deputy insisted that the tourist pay the
five dollar county license fee, and the
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public attention by the local press,
Shenft Turner sertled this memer ina
common sense fashion, recognizing
the legitimacy of the dates clearly
indicated on out-of-state plates.
Hewever, he cemmainly did not wanr it
to appear that his othice had backed
down on this issue or gone s0oft on
|.'|'|I'|1|'|._‘|.'|'I‘||.':!|l:I
warning that anyone whose plates were
due to expire the firstof January better
have them renewed on dme, or else!™

There was one type of violent
crime mvolving certain
carricd out by vigilantes that the
sherfl s O Mhice seemed o i!_'g'l-: e, Al

aor he alao msned a dire

ACHvIEes

ST TGS :|"|'|'.||:|.'|1|; VeI B CRd |t:||';|-‘|_!||.'
— and that was mob action against
anyone who dared 1o speak
“unp itnctically” In Apnl 1917, shordy
after Shenff 1I.Jn1t'1'1'-r.'a..i un hiis first full
term in office, the United States
entered World War 1, and ang-Crermman
sentiment ran high in this countey, In
Broward during this nme, neither
freedom of speech nor freedom of
religion apparently meant very much
it someone was perceived to be
anything less than 100 percent i his

Amwerncanism! COne poor tellow by the
name of R. G. Lavcock learned this the
hard way in April 1918, It seems that
thizs young man had religious
objections o war, and his Davie
neighbors were upset by this. Young
Laycock had the habit of quoting
sCripture [ support s ant-war views
and he acdamantly refused 1o EX[IrCss
hatred for the German Kaizer, saving
that Giod had made all things and thar
He therefore must have made the
Kaiser too, This “blasphemous™
assertion that God didn't hate the
Caermmans was just oo mach for some
aof the wwn’s other residents. who
devkded o end the theol r;_!,i-:_".i] il:'l:'!l|‘:l:l.~i.~if
1h|'|1|.|gJ'| 1.'1'-||q|:'|L'.'|.' AT, i |'|'i|:-|1

whom a local paper referred o as
“pamone cinzens of Davie,” and who
referred to themselves as a “viplance
commmitiee” = went o his home around
midmight one eveming and seized
Laveock., Then, :|:_'|.'4:r.:]|1'|H i f
newspaper report, “he was reminded
Monday night thar God made war and
feathers, therefore they are good
clothes for a slacker!™ The same
newspaper report also sugpested that
no one from the Sherff s Office was

ST ':l:'.r... .E{h_-'.
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muaking any attempt o find out who
the vigilantes were.”

Apparently fearing that idle hands
were indeed the devil’s workshop, some
of the good cidzens of Davie once
again cartied out their self-appointed
patriotic mussion two weeks later. Or,
as a local newspaper editor put i,
“Drviee has agrain mmde hersell a recond
fiar |-:r:. :l]1:|.' and hlll:"l,'_'i.'hhfll”:.' closed
another German sewer”” It secems thar
Ed Rink, a farmer visiting Davie, had
made several unpopular remarks. He
supposcdly stated that he did nor
hslieve news TEpMOTTS of o magor Bronsh
advanece along the Western front, tha
moast of what was |~.-L-.I:-I.i.-;hq-1l n the
1'|1.".1.'h|!|;l|:-|.'|"-1. Wife "l.!ill'l'ul |!||.'~\.:' !11:! 1|I1.'
Crermans were no fools, that Amenica
had no business gemng inwo the war,
and thar Uncle Sam would never et
him in the Army. The newspaper
report of the incident noted thar, atver
hic was "[H:.|i|4_"|:c toaled 1o Lc-;'.;p fag moaath
shur,” and reminded thar someone el
had recently been mrred and feathered
for unpatnonc unerances, Rink was
told v get out of town, Before thar
could happen, however, “when
patence ceased o be a virtue, his jow
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was made a targer for Uncle Sam'’s fst;
some massed i, however, and landed
on his mouth, nose and eves with good
effect. The nexr nime he opens his
mouth, it won't be in Davie!l™ After
petting his face “badly smashed,” the
d4-vear-old farmer had o walk all the
wav 0 Fort Lawderdale = he had med
to get passage on a boar, buar his
assailants decided thar it would
“disprace™ the boar “to haul such a
pink."™®

This nmie the Shenfi's Office took
prompt action! As soon as the beaten
man staggered into town, he was
immediately arrested by Turner’s
deputy and locked up in the county jail.
There he was interrogated by the
Shentf. Rink claimed 1w a Swedish
immigrant who had become a
naturalized citzen several decades
carlier. The Sheriff, however,
summoned o LS Secret Service agent,
and the editor of a local newspaper
speculated  that the German
sympathizer had “pood prospecrs of
landing in a dewention camp for the rest
of the war if he don't have o face the
firing squad!™

In a few other cases too, Shenff
Turner seemed o exhibic a surprisingly
laissez-faire attitude roward law-
breakers. In one instance, he merely
adopted the “ger our of town by
sundown” strategy familiar wo viewers

of Western movies, In May 1™M7, a
resident of Dania, N, C, Pike, was
arrested for highway robbery,
gambling, assaulr and bootlegging He
was convicted only of the last charge,
with the other charpes being held in
abevance on the condinoen that be leave
the county right away. Tt was reported
in a local paper that Pike “was
accompanied to the depot by Shenff

Turner, who bid him good-bye,

wishing him God speed.” The report
went on to say that the man’s freedom
would depend on his stayving our of
Broward County and all the
surrounding counties,™

In addition to law enforcement,
the upkeep of the COUnY '|J1'| Was
another important responsibility for
Brownard's first Sheaff, as it would be
for all of his successors. Constrection
oof the jail bailding had been completed
i 1916, at which tdme it was insured
for 5004, This was Broward first
county lockup and it was locared on
Brickell Avenue, diccctly behind the
county courthouse. The borom floor
of the three-story concrete structure
was oocupied by the deputy shenff in
charge of the jail. The actual cells for
confinement of prsoners were on the
second foor, which had three distinet
compartments, cich enarely separmed
from the others. One of the
compartments conined six cells and

i

ety Crtmg™ workesny B frowd of Oaddand Park Post O, T, O, Meare Store, 19205

the others had twe cells in each. Each
cell had a pair of eots, a toilet and sink,
and other furnimure as necded. The
third Aoor of the building conmined
two very lamge rooms, one used for the
prisoners” lnundry and the other for
recreation. The vard outside the jul was
surrounded by a high concrete wall,

which was 1u|1-|'n;1.| with broken |._r|1;-|:~m'11'

In 1918, the State Jail Inspector
visited the Broward County jail for the
first time, and according to a
contempaorary account of this cvenr,
he “pronounced it o be in as good
condition as any in the sooe.” The jail
was viewed as being sufficiently large
o meet all ;mli-u:!pnl:;;l FequUITements,
and the oprimistic speculation was
offered that if erime kept decreasing,
the third floor might never have o be
equipped with cells®

Twn years later, a local newspaper
reported that because low enforcement
efforts were being directed roward
preventing enme rather than punishing
:il 1|1l1;|:' I|:I|;' F.l-l:l, I|.||..' |'h|:|'|.l.-'.'|.|:'i.|. l':uuu!:.'
jaill was completely emprty. When
Shenff Turner was asked 1o what he
attmbured this remarkable seare of
attairs, he replicd that the credit should
po to Prohibition = as the Poers
Lawderdale Newtine! reported, “No
booee, no men in jall™* OF course,
what was ennrely left our of this
equation was the number of men who
at that very moment might have been
doing “hard labor™ ar Broward’s
convict camp or elsewhere. Given the
number of arrests that were regularly
11.']1-:rrl::.'|.| i Ihr.' 1'|-L'1.1."\|1-rl11-|.'1'\.| ‘i1 i |1.r|:|'r_'|
o imagine that the *chain gangs" were
also devoid of prsonces! And poson
labor was a significant element in the
county’s fiscal structure; it was how the
county roads got buile without having
o paise taxes and upset vorers™ One
example of the budgetary impact of
prisoner labor can be seen in an action
taken by the Broward County
Commussioners durnng the summer of
1918. Ar thar time these officials
decided to save money by laying off |,
k. Gordon, the courthouse janitor -
their reasoning was that the Shenft
could do the work with counry
conviers,
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A year after the Stare Jail Inspector
had ssued his glowing report, several
prisoners complained of mistrearment
during their stay in the Broward
County jail. Two men who had been
arrested for “beating their way on the
train” filed affidavits alleging abuses

while they were in custody, and the Fer
Lawderdiale Herald published these. The
men alleged that they had been given
fooul water to drnk, thar their food was
inadequate, and that they had been
denied needed medical attention. In
fact, the o men claimed that while
incarcerated they had to sell their
clothes in order to buy good drinking
water] [Note: in those davs, the Sheriff
was paid a per diem rare by the counry
for feeding prisoners — in 1914 it was
probably 50 cents or less per day,
because it was only 65 cents per day
ven years later — and if the Sheriff was
able vo make a profit on services such
as this, it was his to keep.] Turner
handled this potental scandal by
invinng an investgation of his office,
and by asking the local newspapers o
publish wo further affidavits. In one,
a veteran of the 138" Aero Squadron,
who had not long before served in
France during World War I, countered
the claims that had been made

regarding food and water. He stated
that he had been held in the jail, for a
minoe offense, at the same ome that
the other rao men were there, and thar
the food and water had been more than
adequate. Moreover, he went on to say
that “while he has been in jail he has
always been treated justly and thag he
has nmever seen the prisoners
mistreated.” The other affidavit
supporing the Shenff was from Dr
T. 5. Kennedy, who stared that he
himself had provided the medical
services which the men claimed they
were denied ™

This was the first time, apparently,
that any complaint about the treatment
of prisoners at the Broward County
fail reached the public, and it appears
o have been put 1o rest rather easily,
It was also the first ime that the issue
of medical care for inmares was
discussed in the newspapers, again not
causing any significant problem for

Sheriff Turner. However, future
sheriffs in Broward County would find
themzelves having to deal with these
two issues over and over again,
sometimes facing some very serious
criticisms over the way they handled
them.

In additon w enforcing the kw,
running the county jail, and providing
a steady supplynlfltbur to the convict
camp, there were many tedious
administrative chores for which Sheaff
Turner was responsible, The Sheriff's
Office in those days worked on a fee
for service basis, and the more money
that was collected for services, the
more the Sheaff would earn. There
were, even in those days, many
subpoenas to be served. There were
arrest warrants from other junsdictions
to be executed, ax well as arrest
warrants o be Forwarded o other
departments for acton. There were
fees to be paid and fees 1o be collecred,
and rewards o be offered and rewards
to be collected. Occasionally, the
Sheriff had wo do some raveling in
order to brng back a prisoner being
held in another county or another stte,
For example, in October 1920, Sheaff
Turner had to mke a mo-day pourncy
to pick up a prsoner in Valdosa,
Georgia. The man had allegedly stolen
acar in Broward and was apprehended
by the local shedff in Valdosma after
that lawman received a telegram from
Shenff Turner. In years 1o come, such
travel would usually be delegated w0 a
depury, but in the carly days of the
Broward Sherift's Office, the county's
chief law enforcement officer often
had to po himsel£® Trwould seem that
sometimes Turner also had to
persenally attend o traffic duties as
well! In one such instance, on a
Saturday night in Ocober of 1920,
some half a dozen o so motonses wene
picked up by Sheriff Turner for
displaving only one license plate or for
having no il light visible®

Along with all of his official duties,
the Sherff occasionally ok upon
himself other responsibilities relatesd 1o
the welfare of the community, For
example, ar a Broward County
Commuassion meenng in 1916, Turner

described the plight of a voung black
by who had come 1o his anention. It
seems that this child was paralyzed and
had no relagves o care for him. In
response to the Shentts report of this
situation, the Commissioners author-
ized him to arrange care for the boy ar
county expense.”

It is difficult 1o determine with any
certainty the personnel roswer of the
Broward County Shenff's Deparmment
in irs early vears. Mot long after he first
took uﬁ_cq: Shenft Turmer apparently
hired one “regular™ deputy, Alonzo
“Lon” Gore. Many repores of
moonshine rids  and  other
enforcement activities, going back 1o
arlease 1917, indicare thar “Lon" Gore
was guite active in carrving out these
dutes, and his name was frequently
mentoned along with thar of Shenff
Turner. By 1918, Deputy Gore was
lving in the jail, so it 15 possible that
this was part of his responsibilities as
“chief deputy,” whether or not that arde
was ever used.® Afrer the early months
of 1920, no ncwspaper reports
mentioned Gore. His place was
apparently taken by another deputy,
AH. Walker, whose name began o
appear regulady along with that of the
Shenff in reports of law enforcement
activiries."

A 1916 newspaper report
mentoned a “Deputy Sheriff Prest”
invoslved 1o reaffic dutes™ In January
1921, he and Lon Gore accompanied
the Shenff on a raid. Although onc
newspaper report of this incident
referred 1o both men as “deputies,™
another paper listed Ciore as * Depury
Gore,” but referred to Priest as “Me
Prcse™ A vear later, in ."'i'[!rl'.il 1921,
after Priest ook part in a raid wirth
Shenff Turner and Deputy Sherff
Walker, he was referred to as “Special
Deputy Priest™ And in May 1921,
there is a reference to a “Jailor Priest.”™
In all probability this dn.pun was the
same Raiford R, Priest who had been
hired by the County Commission in
1915 1o supervise county convicts
working on the roads.

Regardless of what ntles were
used, Sheriff Turmer had a very lange
jurisdiction and few deputics v assist
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him, He was therefore probably
heartened by a headline thae appeared
in May 1921, although present day
lawmen would undoubredly have a
different reaction: “MNATLAMEN NOW
HEAVILY ARMED It seems that the
L5 Postmaster General had ordered
that postal workers be armed as a
precautionary measure against matl
robberies. As a result, South Flonda
post offices were provided with guns
from the federal arsenal in Augusra,
Georgia, The majorty of post office
cemployees were issued Colt 45
revolvers, which they were expecied 10
wear in the holsters which had also
been prowvided o them™

Althowgh most of Sheriff Turner's
law enforcement responsibilities
involved routne macers, there were
several crimes that atrracted significant
public attention dunng his early vears
in office. In September 1919, a
newspaper headline announced
“POMPANGO SCHOOL TEACHER
IN TROUBLE™ It would seem that
teachers being arrested on moral
charges is not an ocourrence limired
to modern times. Indeed, the
fewspaper story went on to say that
“1.. B, Winslow, I'rri|11;:||r,|| af the
Pompano schools,” was arrested by
Sheriff Turner and charged with
adultery. The woman he was lving with
was also arrested — both pleaded guilty
tor the charge of “fornicatnon™ and
were bned $30. This, the newspaper
concluded, “leaves the Pompano
school without a principall™®

i 111]}' i Wik |;|I1:I" Al |:.::»!h. ﬂ-l.‘m'u.lul.-l Wi,
but far more serious came occurred.
It would seem thar, as one newspaper
report nowd, “a littde of the old dme
Wild West” crepr inro South Flondal™
The midnight White Star bus was held
up on Dixie Highway by two masked
highwayman, abour midway berween
Fort Laudeedale and Danin. The
robbers made the driver and four
passengers line up outside the bus and
searched them for wvaluables.
Altogether, the two cnminals made o
et haul of abour $200, Shenff Turner
was called and he formed a posse 10
hunt for the bandirs, bur they were not
apprchended. What made this robbery

W hire Near Bur 1oy

partcularly embarrassing for the
Shenff s Office was that there had been
an attempt cichier that evening w rob
a motonst at the same spot, and this
had been reported. As a result, Deputy
Gore had gone 1o the scene of the
artempred robbery and had acrually
spotted the culprits at the side of the
road as he drove bv. However,
according to one newspaper report
concerning the robbery, “by the tme
the [depurys car] was mrned around
and srarced back, the bandits had
stopped the bus, relieved the
passengers of their money and made
their escape into the brush just as the
officers came up o the place.™

One of the most dramatic
newspaper stones during this penod
appeared on January 16, 1920,
“SHERIFF TURNER ATTACKED
BY A NEGRCOY DESPERADDO™ was
the headline that greeted Broward
ciizens who read the Ford Pawderdade
Sentimel® 1f thev were avid readers of
the For? Lawaerdale Herala instead, they
would have read thar “SHERIFF
TURNER MARROWILY ESCAPES
DEATH AT HANDS 0OF
DESPERATE NEGRO" Although
the headlines were similar, what
followed were two very different
stories

The Nesiined reported thar “Sheriff
A. W, Turner was badly butchered up
last Sunday night by a negro, Jim

Taylor, whom he artempred o arrest.”
Then, in what hag o be 4 classic case
of understaement, the nexst line nowed
that “Taylor is evidently a bad man.”
This account went on 1o sugpest that
it was difficult wo understand why the
armack had ocourred, since the charge
which brought the Shenff wo Taylor's
door was relatvely minor: *On this
ogcasion he was not accused of any
semows offense, at least, not considered
a grave offense among the negroes, so
the sheriff was not expecting any
resistance and was caught off his
guard.” The complaint against Taylor,
according to this tale, was that he had
run away with another man's wate, The
Yewtined report also indicared that
Sherfl Turner had brought deputics
Gore and Priest with him, and
stattoned them arownd the howse while
he entered, Then, "Whack! came a
large knife or machete across his hands,
breaking his left wrist and severely
injung his dght hand, This caused the
sherlf to drop his gun and lighe, and
the next bl struck him across the
head, almost paralyzing him." The
report went on 1o say thar i ook all
[of the depunies’] efforts for some dme
to stop the Hlow ot blood and get the
sherff into the doctor’s care.” In the
MmaAntne, the assilam ;'11.';|!1-|,'|:_].“
The Herald report was in
agrecment with the Sentive/ on two
things: Turner had been hurr, and the



Sherift had brought Gore and Priest
with him when he went to make the
arrest. However, on other poines it
differed I'I"u.!'Ll.-:ﬂl. from the Nestine!
report. For one Il]ll’!lﬂ. the Henald story
clumed that Tavlor was being 5:H|;,J1t
not because he was charped with a
minor erime, but because he was
weanted for muardes! Te also stared that
after sinking the Sheriff, the assailant
picked up Turmners pun and *shor at
the prostrare figure of the sherff bur
missed.” Morcover, the Henalf neported
that *as he went through the yard
[Tavlor] shoe at Mr Priest, the ball
poing through his coat and through his
shirr, but o 1|:-|.|:L'|'|I|'|5._r| the b ||:|!.."Ill
Whichever version one chooses o
believe, it was not a good day for
Lhenft Turnce!

The year would end well for the
county’s top lowman; however, foar it
was an election vear, and Turner's
popularity remained undiminished.
Indeed, the Itl;,'l'l-l_ll_l-li-l::ll'l". Jdiddn't even
bother to run a candidate against hime
Monetheless, he did have 1o face a
peneral election in November, because
the Socialist Party had decided o
nominate L) M, Gormbe as a candidate
for Shend ¥, When the election resulis
came in, 1t was 661 votes for Democrat
Turnee, 116 vores for Socialist
Gornm, ™

It was a sweeping victory for Aden

W Turner and January 4, 1921, saw the
start of what promised to be a very
successful new term for this popular
Shenfl, His first term, of course, had
!1-;'::_'!3 H 1|"I.|111_".'|ll.'\i| HIE, |..a|.-.|l|1._|_!| i |:!|E!. I-1"-: b
the end of 1915 when he was
appointed, o the end of the next year.
Drunng this ome the county’s first orue
clections had been held and Turmer had
bepun his second term — his brst fodf
tem — i 1917, Wow, as he embarked
'ui1-:||'| I!lh: I:I'l:l:'l.l FEFiT, I!I'n.'n; hl;,'i:l!l'll:'w’.l (18]
be few clowds on the hormeson, Trwould
have been difficult at that tme to
predict that Shenff Turner's third term
wotld b as short as his first

In May 1921, the Shenff s Office
was embarrassed by a well-publicized

escape from the county jail.
“PRISINERS ESCAPE FROM
COUNTY JAIL BUT ARE

CAPTURED” screamed the headline
of the Forf Lavderal Heralf In block
print immedarely below that headhine,
a 'au]:rlu:'lr.h::j.., told the rest of the SOy
I|.i|||.'1' Left Doors Unloeked ."|.|:|u:_|
Prisoners Took "|.4.|'.';|l'|l;l!_=|_|.' of
Opportunity,” It seems that afrer
fecding his prisoners, Depury Priese
simply forgor w lock the jail doors.
Three men escaped and then swle a
car, some money and a Cole revalver,
Fortunately, the escapees were
:.".1‘11uh|,.1.] by thig city muarshal ar Bustis,
Florida. Sheriff Turner told Depury

Hiroghared §agavy ANLT-20%N =1

Walker to go and retrieve the proisoners,
and they were back in the Broward
County jail the nexrday. No one knows,
haovarever, |:_"'-::|1_'r|.!.' what Shenff Turner
r|1ll.l ||I'-. iinlrr.r"

As embarrassing as the jail escape
undoubredly was, it was snon forgonen
as events unfolded thar would
ultimately result in the Sheriff's
removal from office. What led to
Turner’s downfall was the bigpest
criminml case = wmd certinly, a1l
county administranon’s point of view,
the most lucratve one — thar had
occureed o dare in Broward Couney,
Srartng at least as eary as the 1917-
1918 tourist season, a new type of
scam had been intreduced 1o Florida,
one which was referred o as
“wirctapping.” It was an ¢laborae rusc
not unlike the one thar was later
portraved in the movie The Siing It
required a large gang 1o make it work
and, hke many “cons,” it depended
upon the avarce of the victim, The
“u'ir-l,'r;l.rlpa:rx" woulbd bemn by rennng
a nice home in a respectable
neighborhood, in ared
frequented by winter rounss, Withow
the knowledge of any of their
neighbors, these well dressed and
seemingly respectable scammers would
sct up a phony bookmaking operation
inside ther new home, A soumss would
be selected as the “mark™ and then he

SOHELE

The fire bogpeiiad fn Broward Cownty was focated fn the Wallace Apartment building in 1922,
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would be lured 1w this scene, usually
from another tourist city in the area,
having been enticed by the prospect
of gambling and a littde easy money.
Onee at the supposed bookmaking
establishment, the vicom-wo-be would
see people busily engaged with
blackboards, charts, telegraph
instruments, multiple phones, packages
of money, etc. He would then be let in
on a little secrer, thar this was no
ordinary bookmaking operation —
these “wire-tappers,” he was wld, could
tap into the wires that carried the
earliest reports of mcetrack results,
thuz enabling them o learn which
horses had won before anyone clse
knew. Then, it was claimed, they could
very quickly place bets with other
bookies just before the betting was
“glozed.” This, their intended vicum
was assured, was foolproof - they
couldn’t lose on these bets because they
already knew the winners! All i took,
supposedly, was rechnology and splir-
second tming. The technology they
obviously possessed, or =0 it would
seem, given all of the paraphernalia
that was so carcfully displayed in the
bogus operation. And to show how
well the iming worked, the guese was
allowed 1o place a small bey, receiving
his “winnings" a short tme later.
Thus was the hook ser. Having
seen how casy it was o0 make money
this way, the vicom would readily go
along with the suggestion that he put
up the money for a lagge bet, one that
would net him a significant return on
a “sure thing,” Often the wouwrist would
have 1o wire back home for the necded
money, in order w© get enough cash o
ensure a truly magnificent pavoft. Chnee
the “bet” was made and the money was
in the hands of the scammers, the
victim only had o wait a short ume
before being assured thar a small
fortune awaited him. It was, he was
eeled, just a marrer of a lirde oravel o
pick up the pavoff, which was
supposedly being held for him by the
bookies who had been duped by the
tourist and his newfound friends,
Somewhere along the way, the wavel
A TANECIments ill'ﬁ'-";l-}'!- wonl T, and
the rourist would become separated

from the gang member who was taking
him 1w collect the money. Unee the
truth finally hit him, the vicim
frequently had no desire o report the
crime tor the authoroes. It was not just
the embarrassment at being “waken,”
but alse the fact that gambling with
bookies was illegal in the fiest place.
And besides, the victim might
anticipare lirtle sympathy for his loss,
as he had obviously been more than
willing to cheat others out of their
money!

“Wiretappers™ had been operating
in South Florida for several years when
Shenff Turner began his third term.
In May 1921, the Miawws Heradd exposed
the workings of this scam, which had
come to light largely as a result of
several murders, including that of the
notorious con artist known as the
Waco Kid.” Detectives indicated that
the wiretappers found many of their
victims in Miami, and then brought
them to Forr Lauderdale and clsewhere
for the “fleccing.” The swindles carried
out in Flonda resorts by these criminals
reportedly browght them more than
£2 million each winter season. These
con artists avoided prosecution largely
through bribery and corruption, with
25 percent of their take being allocated
to “protection.” Their activities
resulied not only in murders — with at
least five homicides being anrbuted
a single band of wiretappers operating
out of Miami — but in suicides as well.
Although most wourists who were
victimized would quietly endure the
swindle, for some the financial losses
were so devastanng thart they wok their
own lives. One such unformnae was
the son of a Louisiana governor®

In Broward County, the first trial
of an individual involved in a
“wirctapping” scam had mken place in
early 1919, the result of a winter visitor
from Philadelphia complaining that he
had been defrauded of $25,000.*
However, the gang who would bring
grict to Shenff Turner did not armve
in Broward unnl a few years later. In

January 1922, they began their

operations in Fort Lawderdale, seting
themselves up in the Frank Oliver
House, facing the Aver on Morth River

Drive. Despite the reluctance of
vicoms 1o report their losses, irwas not
very long before the gang’s acuvines
became knowen to residents in the area,
and 4 number of prominent people in
the community appealed to Shenff
Turner and other local authoritics o
do something about this eriminal
enterprise, When no action was mken,
a few citizens ook their appeal o the
state capital, where they found a willing
listener in Governor Cary A, Hardee ™

The result was seen in the headline
of the Fort Landerdafe Herald for
February 3, 1922: “THIRTEEN
WIRETAPPERS CAUGHT HERE -
Raid Made By Governor’s Agent
Assisted By Local Shenff.” It was,
according to the report thar followed,
“the biggest raid on wirctappers that
has ever been pulled off in the Sate
of Florda™ Governor Hardee had
gent Robert H. Shackelford, a depury
gherff from Duval County, down 1o
Fort Lauderdale as the Governor's
“special represenmative.” Within a shon
time, Shackelford had gathered
sufficient evidence from Fort
Lauderdale, Miami, and West Palm
Beach to warrant a raid on the Oliver
House,™

Sheriff Turner had received no
notice of Depury Shackelford's arrval
in Fort Landerdale, and apparently he
knew lirtle of the acnvides of the
Governor'’s agent untl a short ome
before the mid actually ook place.®
On Friday, Pebruary 3, Shackelford
selecred 10 local businessmen and
brosgeht them w Shenfl Tumer’s office
where they were sworn in as depuries.
Then he, Shenff Turner, and the 10
newly deputized men conducred the 2
pam. raid, [Note: there was no mention
of Deputy Walker or any other
“regular™ Broward deputy sheriff
taking part in this action.] The raikd was
successful, 13 arrests were made and
the wirctappers were jailed over the
weekend.® On Monday morning, they
were brought before the county judge,
and the heanng went on for two days
At s conclusion, the judge held thar
there was sufficient evidence o bring
the 12 wirctappers to mal {the 13th
man was being held as a wimness), The
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defendants were placed under bonds
rotaling $1 10,000 - ar the nme this was
reported to be the largest bond ever
redquired in the state of Flonda. Tvwas
noted in the local press that “when the
amount of the bonds was announced
there was great applause. This peeved
the attorneys for the defense, but the
Judge was powerless to stop the
cheering, "™

Six of the men were bonded out,
but the other six sat in the county jail
for another seven weeks. When the
defendants appeared in Circuit Court,
it was reported that they “made strong
endeavors to be agreeable to the court
and handshaking and cheerful
greetings was the order of the day” ¥
This was cerminly something that
might be expected from sccomplished
“ocon arnsts,” bur it apparently did have
some effect nonetheless. On March 27,
1922, all 12 members of the gang
pleaded guilty and threw themselves on
the merey of the court. The judge, w
the surpnse of many, fined them but
didd not give a single one of them, not
even their leader, any prison rime.
Instead the judge announced that
“penitentiary sentences would be
suspended pending the good behavior
of the men in this county.” Good
behavior while they remained in
Broward was certainly not an
unreasonable expectation, and it was
quite an easy one for even the most
dishonest among them o live up m,
considering that the men all lefr the
county that very day.®

Bur before thev left, of course,
they paid thetr fine. And whar a fine it

was — a otal of S20,0001* There were
many who believed that the con men
had bought their freedom with thae
money. Indeed, one Florida hisworian
has indicated thar although no official
records can be found to substantiate
the claim, the talk in Fort Lauderdale
at the time was thar the deal was struck
becanse the county was in need of the
money. Specifically, it was said thar an
agreement was reached to ser the fine
ar the exacr amaount it would cose o
construct the county’s badly needed
first hospital.® Whatever the case may
be, this fine — which amounted to
almaost twace as much as the county had
paid for the courthouse in which the
ease was heard — was elearly o windfall
for local officials!

The citizens of Broward were
cerrainly very pleased with this
outcome, a8 it did indeed seem likely
thar i the furure scam aroses would
be inchined 1o think twice before taking
up residence in their county, As one
bocal newspaper editor wrote when the
court proceedings had been concluded,
“the result of the wal iz felr 1w be a
vindication of the cinzens who wok
the mgmer o their own hands and
helped to secure the arrest and
convictdon of the wiretappers after the
failure of the authorbes o mke any
steps in the matter.”™

So the County Commissioners
were happy, the wiretappers were
happy, the citizens were happy. Who
wasa't happy? Probably Shenff Turmner,
or as he was called by the tume the
wiretappers went o trial, “ev-Sheriff
Tumer” On Sarurday, February 25,

1922, just three weeks after the raid that
had put the wiretappers out of
business, and a month before they
would go o trial, Governor Hardec
removed A W Turner from his post
as Sheriff, charging him with
“nonfeasance in office.” Specifically,
the Governor cited Tumner's failure 1o
oust the alleged wirctappers from his
jurisdicrion. The first Sheriff of
Broward County  had  been
suspended!™

Throughout the county there was
preat sympathy for Turner’s position,
and apparently no one really believed
that be was in any way connected with
the wirctappers, or that he had
accepted graft. There was, in fact, an
immediate effort by some leading
citizens 1o convince the Governor 1o
reinstate the suspended Sheriff.
However, Hardee was adamant and
made clear his determinanon o mke
whatever means might be necessary to
put an end to wirctapping in Florida.
Moreover, the Governor said, he
would remove eeery sherff who failed
to act when these criminals were
known to be operating in his
community.® Legally, the removal of
any shenff by the Governor was
contingent on the approval of the
Florida Senate, and therein lay Turner's
only chance for reinstatement.
However, because the State Legslarune
only met every two years, it would net
be until the following vear that the
suspended Broward Sherff would
have the oppormunity 1o ke his case
tor the semators. @



SHERIFF
PAUL C. BRYAN
Eﬁuu-.ﬁuﬂ

hen Governor Hardee

removed A W Turner as
Broward County Shenff, he named as
a replacement “a voung man of
splendid qualificanons for the office,”
according o the editor of the For
Landerdale Herald™  Tronically, the
administration of the man being
written abour, Paul . Bryvan, was
destined o be plagued by rwo of the
most incredible scandals ever po occur
in Broward County. One of these
involved the mass arrest of every
officer in the Shenffs Department,
including the Shenff, on charges of
corruption. The other scandal arose
from the later arrest of Bryan's long-
nime Chief Depury, on a charge of
imiirder.

Paul €. Bryan was born in
Glencose, Flonda on January 13, 1591,
and he moved o the Fort Lauderdale
area in 10, His sister, Mrs, Susie M.
Cratg, had come o Browand County
rwo vears previously, and she became
the postmaster of Fort Lauderdale, She
served in that capacity for 15 vears, and
for 11 of those years her brother Paul
served as her assistant postmaster. He
lefe this position o serve in the military
duning World War I, returning 1o Fon
Lauderdale in 1921.%  Ar the odme of

his appointment as Shenff, one local
newspaper reported him o be a

graduate of Stcrson Universiy®

Shenff Bryan took over as
Broward’s chicf law enforcement
otticer on Monday, March 6, 1922, He
appointed Fred M. Powell, formerdy a
deputy in Palm Beach, as hiz Chief
Depury and Jailer. Powell, who had
recently moved o Fort Lauderdale
from Hobe Sound, ok up residence
in the fail.” Although the new Shedff
had ne prior law enforcement
experience, before he had completed
his first year in office, he would find
himself making arrests for several
murders and other sermows crimes,
Moreover, Bryan would also become
quite familiar with the petty comes and

“vice” arvests that kept the Shenft’s
Office busy during the “Roaring
Twenties”

Among the first arrests made by
the new Shenff personally was one that
certinly broughr a lot of atenion o
his office. One Sunday afternoon in
June 1922, a baseball game was being
plaved at Stranahan Park in Fort
Lauderdale, with the local team
competing against a team from Miami.,
At the end of the second inning,
Shenff Brvan stepped our onto the

playing field and arrested the ennire
Forr Lauderdale ream - rthey were
charged wirth playing bascball on
Sunday! For some reason, though, the
Mianu ream wasn't arrested. When the
case went to court lter thar week, the
lwaryers for the defense asked for a jury
trial. Assistng the defense lawyers was
Judge Price of Miami, who was a
member of the Miami ream and who
had been present when the opposing
tearn was arrested. The jury heard both
sides and retired to give careful
consideration to the very weighty legal
issues invalved, reuraing with a ot
guilty™ verdict in less than ten
munues. ™

In December 1922, when he had
been in office less than a vear, Shenff
Bryan was faced with the most sefions
juil break thar had ever occurred ar the
Broward County jail. The two men
who escaped were members of the
Ashley gang, probably the most
notorous band of outlaws in Florda
history. The *Wilkd West™ had the James
brothers and their gang; Flonda had
the Ashley brothers and their gang,
From early 1915 through late 1924, the
Ashley bunch brought terror 1o the
Gold Coase Ther acuvines included
bank robberies, rumrunning, train
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robberies, hijacking and, of course,
murder. In May 1922, the Ashley gang
|:|J|.| I:u|r|5-|.1.E 1||.|:' "-:utL |||1 5!1111’1 - J'ur
the second mme — and the o men
who would later escape from the
Broward County jail had been arrested
for parncipation in that crime. They
had orignally been locked up in the

Hiwfard Mailer amd the ather s
i r'.I'J'..'I|"I-|".'.II i ."J.l:m'.."'rr.-m' M
ﬁ.I!':l.vu.l‘:n"{.r.-.l.r.l.r:":r__.l..'f.l'.

Hn Mattbewrs,

Palm Beach County jail, but when
repairs had to be made o that facility,
they were tmnsferred o Brooward., The
prsoners, who were occupying a cell
on the wp floor of Browand’s county
|u-|,"l:|.|r‘:l. c_':h.".'|1'|-|;-|| rI'ITl:HI_E.]'I n e door
in the ceiling and then lowered
themselves down from the roof using

frregerrnd Lapavy S-S0 |5

blankets and sheeis oed topether, The
brreak was discovered a shore ime after
it oceurred, and a quickly onganized
posse set off in pursuit of the escaped
prisoncrs. In addinon, relegrams were
sent to authonties up and down the
Flomda coast, althowgh it was behieved
that the two men most likely had fled
into the Everplades, which was where
the Azhley gang hid our.

One of the two escapees was
Hanford Mobley, the eenage nephew
of John Ashley and a new member of
the pang — in addinon to the bank
robbery charpe, federal charpes were
also pending against the young man for
smuggling and  piracy, Mobley
FEp :lrl-e.'t”jl.' iddodiceed his |.|.|'|.v|."|1,'.| who had
robbed the same bank a few vears
carlier. Despite Sherff Turner's effores,
the two jail escapecs avoided
recapture.”

It was also durng Bryan’s first year
in office that County Commissioner
Dan Johnson, who represemed the
|:F|.'h|;|‘|:.i|..'f-|.|.1.tiir:i.-|.'l. WAk hI:II:Il Eia I'JI.'.':-I.I]'I i1
Dixee Highway one Samrday morning,
His assailane was W L. Bracknell, the
Postmaster at Deerficld and a former
county commuassioner himself, The two
mven had been close rends, but they
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had recently had a disagreement. At the
ume this incident occurred, both men
were wearing revolvers in their belis,
and shordy after they met, the shooting
began, The killer, it was reported,
“made no effort o cscape, but left
word for Shenff Bryvan wo call atr his
home for him when he arrived™™ Two
months later, when Bracknell was
brought to mal, there was a lanpe cromwd
in anendance, with people from all over
the county coming to hear the
testmony. After all the evidence had
been presented, the pioneer resident
of Broward County was acquitted by
the jury, after deliberations thar lasted
only 30 minues,™

W, L. Brackaclf

During the same period of nme,
Bryan also had o deal with a very
simitlar incident, although it is doubrful
that many Fu;'::plu at the nme would
view it so. It was another tragedy
involving two men who had a quarrel,
who also met on Dixic Highway, and
who were also both armed. In this
second case, though, the headline read
"NEGRO IS KILLED - Two Negro
Farm Hands Meet And Shoot Ir Our
Sunday Might.” When Shenft Bryan
arrivid, he found M. E. Poole dead and
the other combatant, Sam Neeley, very
serioushy wounded.™

Cither cases in which the new
Sheriflf had to become dircctly
involved might roday be handled by a
vice 5.:.|u:|n;l or se¥ crmes unin One of
the first arreses thar Bryan had to make
after his appointment as Sheriff was
that of a Miami man who was charged
with “transporting a woman for

immorl purposes.” The warrant hacd
been filed by the woman’s husband.
Not surprisingly, it appeared thar the
ear which the acoused was drving had
also been stolen.™

Two other cnimes that Bryan had
o investgare during his first year in
office invalved sexual assaults on
voung girls, In the first case, a man had
taken his wife and a young girl - one
report indicared that she was a 1 2-year-
obll, another listed her as 14 years of
age — for a ride in his car. Then he
induced them o drink some liguor
with him, after which he lefr his wafe
i the car and ook the gir for a walk
in the woods, where he allegedly
assaulted ber, His wite came running
when she heard the girl's sereams, bur
she was knocked unconscious by her
husband.™ The accused rapist was
indicted by the Broward Grand Jury,
but after two trals, he was :c:plittcd.“

Less than a month afrer that
incident had raken place, the Sheriff
was presented with another sexual
assault case, and this rime the rape
victim was an Indian girl™ Despitc a
great deal of evidence presented an the
ensuing three-day wmal, the outcome
was summarized in a4 newspaper
headline thar read: “JURY ACOUITS
MAN OF CHARGE OF ASSAULT-
ING YOUNG LOCAL SEMINOLE
INDAN WORMAN" It is interesi-
ing to note that one of the local papers
blamed this come on idleness. The
proposed solution? “Enforce the
vagrancy low, we say!™™

For the most part, though, the
arrest reports filed by the Shenff'™s
Office dunng Brvan’s renure were as
routing as they had been during his
predecessor’s tume in office. Some of
the charges that were lodged aganst
defendants with great frequency in the
19205 would sill be quite familiar
roday, and they include:

* “Reckless doving™

* “Carrving a concealed
weapon”

* “Dinving withour a license”
= “Tesuing o worthless check™
= “Assault and battery™

* “Diniving under the influence
of intoxicating liquors™

* “Pear larceny™

Oither charges, such as “gambling,™
are still occasionally seen today,
although certainly wath nowhere near
the frequency thar they appeared back
then. For some minor crimes, the
wording has changed, and today we
don't expect to see such quaintdly
worded charges as:

» “Beating a board bill”

* “Riding a train withour a

ticket™

OF course, many of the charges
back then had 1o do with the facr thar
Prohibition was in operation in
Broward County all through this
penod. “Inteacaton”™ was the charge
which appeared most regularly, but
other charges were interesting for their
wording, clearly a product of the
Prohtbition Fea:

= “Possession of moonshine™

* “Oiperating a sull™

» “Possession of home brew™

*“Unlawful possession of
ligquor: 3 coca cola bortles of
shine whiskey"™

» “Possessing 2 bonles of beer™

However, the most dramatic
indicatton that tdmes have changed 12
seen in some of the other charges thar
appeared often in the records of the
Broward Shentf’s Office during the
19205, Oineg of the most popular
seermed to be “Fornication™ (for which
the usual fine was §5.000, but others
inchuded:

* “Operating a tent show

withour a license™

* “Bastardy™

* “Profanity™

* “Allowing cartle o roam at

large™

Many of these charpes resulied in
fines from §5 to $100, with the
alternative being five, 10 or up w 60
days at hared labor, However, a sizeable
number of these charges did not
include the oprion of paying a fine in



SR M NP I D LR

o un ddn pasao) uanyg pue ‘sanndap sy
30 auo pue ueig Juayg g pasaie
Apuanbasgns asam Loy | "pysaag] w
LPEC] 21 uD papue] siuerdnuun pedagn
€7 10 dooa@ ¢ ‘grpp udy up dunoes
PIUAGIE] O SIUAPISAT JALI0 MUOS
Pun UEAN JIUAUE A A
Huo] uaagq aavy ismw suape pedan
Aupaoam ases nepnanaed aug
i 1SROD
EPLIOL] U 10 ATIAMILLIOS U5 LI I
SPOH] TTMY1 WAL PUE 353Uy L] 10
dnoad ¢ pazapinw asng o1 punog s
sradiinus nead aues U ur panodag
1D DIAEN AJDA B U] RUaT pajddnms
(06 320 papuatpaadde peyg sy fpowad
mad-Imoy ¢ Junnp e paes Auno)
2] Jo guayg sap aduexa 10] 1761
U SEE P[] A1 o siueadmon
jedagp g0 Fuy@imos ap - spzal
YN U ALY EPEOL] YN o) IR
...__._.__.._ LEL] LR O TR A SRTER B3R LE|
uonuaNE jo [eap 1 v pasmaas sy
FRAP JO AU [P st suapgoad Eoos
IO L [EP 01 P Ut U
‘afenoys Joqe] ap dmpmedag suon
-E123dX SIS0 PN IISUOAIIm
S1 JO JWOE 01 UONIPpY u]
o JANED 2
DARI| 00 IO HIOM JO 1I0E MLOE UT 2TEiUD
ap saoadou apr pdwos o, Jjuayg

gl l.1_._“_.-....hn_._—_.“.- r.lun.__ ___._.._..h....r..._.‘

A PR IDIIUWIOT) JO INJUIEYT)
I 1B SWIAE 1 TR AT YL op
01 JJUIYS DI PEL TR PUE UGIn|os
pasodoad ap sean JEga of | Cssaunee|
advanooua saleam gyl g auapan
S1 01, IVL[l PAIEIS A2 DT ‘uongse)
st et | 0L U U S0y a0 oada
uounuod jo sadem ydny Sopeaaad
3N puE ANATEIS DU, 01 UGOUIIIE
PA[[ED PELY SUIZND JO I31ILILIOD
E 1EY1 ueilg pawrojm 1 ‘Sgal 'S
ATy PNE] AIEIMLWOS) O JACUITY)
ANPIAPITET] LI I JO PRI N A
LUANS S 01 JUIS ST SO0 [12a0] JO
133lyns 241 U0 O 10 IR0 A,
] ST
0 SIOIEOLA AU JSALIE ) pUpd og s,
LREATg] AT SEM 1 1) HIELIDT L) i
PS03 JOUIIAGEY ] ], SIIHI0M J0 padt
Gl A0S a3am UPLIOL] JO SaIsnput
ap s e awanasd en s Suons
I PEY EPIOL] 1t S8 03 uo U S
WIS LAYWO U KT O IO EpO]L]
UNII3I 0 SHOLD O 2TJEME W0
A[ILIA2AT PEL 1] IEL ALY PROI JaPIE]
IOUIAADEY ‘1203] SIj1 U] TPUayg jo
npp0 Ay of vdag) pasuodde pag oga
LERULE 41 “EPUO] JO JOUIAN00Y 2L W]
SEA TR | HT Ay panp s au g, syl
G0 JUE] JDULINY DUECS PALS AU UeAlg)
JUS Ag PAAIIIN £IDII] OM,

“AAEILOUE
oqu] ayl aaarpa diag o1 a0y
g jJuayy oy papadxa apdoay aomeas
SEM JOCE] PUE “EPUIOL] J0] SIE24 1000
azam s(TG1 A g YpEun] 2ogjo m
Jrmayg agi andd o agdoad ag Haunoa
AN JO USUSSIUTEN0] PUR SIMLLIT) 200M
ay go sisaamu mp pajoad o1 Al
paado asmyyey £ JJUAGG pIRAOIE] U
SIPUIIP [EIIADE 1SIY K1 UL TA0OJY
praadsapim sem Ano8ig pue ‘mag
AJam sOUOUTW Jo syl g sanms
WIAITIOG AUELL Ul ST 3 S “EpUop] u
..m_nﬂ_. Y JO IIPI0 I SR A
RIn1uad LIIKE L) o BUL) 3s31] el
moydnoag s wifiag o], panmaso
SIY1 YIMYM Ul 1XIIU0D IWOUGID
PUE [ED0S U ISQUINLLT 0] ATESSI090
s1 1 ‘pamaasoad ag pnos | ownaa,,
E NS Aa PUBISIAPUN O, 3041
prEy Jo sAEp (j) 01 PAOUIIEIS e ST
JO PAIAUGD U 20O PUR N0
soqe) ¢ Jupjeasq,, sem asap jo
AUy AU JALLLAAGD PAEMSUn
aq Iy Aepol ing ‘Ensnun Jo nb
150l 100 azam | sanuam ], Suvoy,
a1 duump padneyd azsam apdoad yougm
A SO 2T J0 s paspug

o JOKU] Py e SARD () 30 ()
AYA JO SITUIIDS UI PAAMEIT 35 JO
AL 3L PUT *UONTIAANEIU JO N



T Browatrd sy

county jail. Most of these men came
from Czechoslovakia, and a few from
lealy. They had gonen as far as Cuba,
and then paid from $140 w0 $200 each
tor be smuggled into the United Stanes.
They were brought over in an open
boat and were on the water seven days,
being given only food thar was virnally
inedible, As a result, it was reported
that “the men were all ravenously
hungry when given an opportunity to
eat at the county jail.™

Whar was most intercsung abour
this case was that on a Friday evening
a few days after they were caprured,
these refugees put on a concert for
their captors. This entertainment was
artended by courthowse officials and a
few invited guests, It involved a musical
play, followed by several of the aliens
singing folk songs from their native
lands A local paper reported on the
play, noting that the rwrF::ln'r'b:mn' of
one of the Talian singers in partcular
elicited a grear deal of applause from
the audience. The play was a tragedy,
and the musical picce which brought
the most applause was the Tralian
soloist’s song “of limentaton”™ This
wias indecd quite firting, because several
days afver their performance most of
the aliens were deported. ™

During Sherff Bryan's third year
in office, the infamous Ashley gang
held up a bank in Broward County.
Their September 1924 robbery of the
Pompano Bank netred these outlaws
over $20MK). That cnme, however,
would tum out w0 be their last “job”
The gang’s end, less than tan months
later, came abowt as 2 resulr of 2
relentless pursuit by the Shenff of
Palm Beach County, Bob Baker.
However, when the long-antucipated
showdown  finally came - on
November 1, 1924 — Baker wasn’t
present. Instead, he senr three of his
deputics 1o take part in this
confrontation with the outlaws,
claiming that he was too “busy™ o go
himself! Needless two say, this action -
or more appropriately, imecfor = on
Sheriff Baker's part fueled a grear deal
of local speculation as 1o the reason
for his absence.

Bob Baker's deputies joined | R

Merrite, the Sheriff of St Lucie
County, and rogether these liwmen set
up a roadblock on Dixie Highoy, at
the bridge over Sebasnan Creek, about
20 miles north of Forr Pierce. When
John Ashley's automobile was forced
o stop, the outlow leader and the three
members of his  gang who
accompanied him found themselves
surrounded and owgunned, and they
surrendered. What happened nexr is
unclear, bur the resule was nor. When
the smoke cleared, the four gang
members lay dead, cut down by salvos
from the shotguns carried by the
lawmen, The official version of the
story was that the outlaws wemt for
their guns, but many people believed
that they were simply execured.
Apparently they were already
handcuffed when they were shot, One
of the four dead outlaws was the
tecnager Hanford Mobley, who two
vears earlier escaped from the Broward
County jail.*™

What does the demise of the
Ashley gang have 1o do with the
Broward County Sheriff's Offices?
Actually, nothing! And thar 15 very
curious indeed, for several reasons, For
one thing, shortly before these
eriminals met their fate, the Governor
of Flonida had made it quite clear 1o
Paul Bryan that he expecred the
Broward Sherff wo ke action against
the outlaw gang. “The time has come,”
Geowvernor Hardee wrote, “when these
desperadoes must be captured!” The
Crovernor Went on 1o suggest strongly
that Bryvan meer with Shenff Baker of
Palm Beach Couney and devise some
joint plan.®  Eight days later,
apparently growing even more irntated
by the Broward Shenff's continued
inaction, Hardee wrote once again,
pointing out to Bryan that he hadn't
vet heard from him, The Governor
specifically asked whar plans, if any,
were being made wo pur a stop to the
Ashleys,™ There is no record that any
such plans were ever made by the
Broward Shenffs Office, and in a very
short time, it became a moot point,

What makes Bryan's apparent lack

of interest in pursuing the Ashley gang
even more curious is the face thar the

Sheriff had in his department an
officer with superb credentials for
tracking down these outlaws, Bryan's
right-hand man, his Chief Depury,
knew John Ashley as well as, or perhaps
better than, any other liarman in South
Florda

When Bryan had been in office for
eight months, he appointed William A,
Hicks as his Chief Depute® For four
years, “Big Bill™ Hicks would live in the
jail and virtoally ren the Sheriff's
COffice for Bryan, With Broward
County’s growth, the work of the
department had greatly increased.
There were now several depuries and
a remendous amount of paperwork.
Almost all of the correspondence from
the Shenff's Office ar this tme was
signed “Shenff Bryan (by William Al
Hicks, I5.)" — or simply signed by
Bryan with Hicks' initials indicating the

real author™

Wil A. "Big Bel™ Hicks

It is probable thar none of Paul
Bryan’s endeavors would have gone as
smoothly as they did had it not been
for his right-hand man, Bill Hicks,
When the Shenff had 1o face his first
test at the polls, after two vears as an
appointed officcholder, “Big Bill's”
assistance was undoubtedly of great
value in assuring Bryan's victory. To be
sure, the Chief Depury was a very able
“politician™ himself, He had helped o
organize the local lodge of the Elks,
and he had served as its first Exalred
Rulee, Hicks was also quite active in
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several civic organizanons, and he
managed to acquire significant real
estate holdings in Broward Couney. He
would have had good reason 1o use his
many “connections” to help Bryan
w:hu:allu, because the Chiet D:‘:T'l-tl'l';
very definively liked his job and wanted
to keep it. He was equally helpful o
the Sheriff in the sphere of law
enforcement, because while Bryan had
come into office with no expenence
in this area, Hicks was a seasoned

lawman.™

It was on account of his law
enforcement expenience that the Chief
Deputy was personally acquainted with
the notonous John Ashley! Hecks' first
job as a lawman had been in Dade
County, where he served as a depurty
under Shenff Dan Hardie, Tn 1915,
John Ashley had been held in the Dade
County jail avwaiting trial for murder.
On June Z2of that vear, his brother Bob
Ashley tried to break him out. During
this unsuccessful artempt, Deputy
Hendrickson, the jailer, was killed.
Sheriff Hardie hired Bill Hicks to
replace the shun depury, and that is how
Hicks first mer John Ashley. The new
jatler and his prsoner got along very
well, and it was in one of their frequent
discussions that Hicks sugpested 1o
Ashiey that the outlaw dictate the story
of his life to another prisoner. The plan
was rthar this marramve would then be
edired by Hicks and published.
According to a nmewspaper report
written at the ome, “Deputy Hicks
declares the story, as far as the writers
have proceeded with it, makes intensely
interesting reading, and some of irs
chaprers read like a eale of the Wild
West in its wildest dave"™

It would appear thar Hicks had a
certain degree of admiration for
Ashley, the stone cold killer o whom
he relared so well. It 15 interesong to
speculate as to whether this might have
been a tactor in the Broward Shenft's
seeming reluctance to become actuvely
invalved in putting an end to the
outlw, If Bryan had wanted o send
anyone after Ashley, the logical choice
wiouild, of course, have been Hicks In
fact, Governor Hardee had suggested
to Bryan thar the Ashleys might never

be caprured unless “some man is put
on the job in the way of detectve
service.™ Right in Bryan's office was
just such a man, someone who had
experience working for the William |
Burns Detcctive Agency, a detective
good enough at his work 10 be made
chief of the Burns Agency office in
Memphis. Indeed, that was the posinion
“Big Bill” Hicks held just before
becoming Shenff Brvans depury. Yer
when the showdown with the Ashley
gang took place, no one from the

Broward Shenff’s Office was there.

There was one other interesting
connection berween Hicks and the
Ashley pang, Years later, when Hicks,
the professional lnwman, was himself
facing criminal charges, it was an
outtiw who would step forward and
try to provide “Big Bill™ with an aliba.
This man, a prisoner in the stare
penitentiary, was Joe Tracey — who had
been o member of the ﬂl.:-hlu gang™

With his Chief Deputy’s help, Paul
Bryan was remurned 1o office in the
1924 elections, The real r:lﬂllmge
hadn't been prevailing in thar year's
gi:ntml election, bur rather the sk of
gaining the sasimation for Shentt in the
Democrane pomary. At thar dme in
Broward's history, the Democranc
nomination for a county office
continued to be tantamount to
eleenion. So all Bryan really had w do
was to pet nominated, and as the
incumbent he cermainly should have
had the inside rrack. However, there
was another contender who was, in a
way, wlee the incumbent!

When Shenff A, W Turner was
suspended from office in 1922, he had
to wait 2 year before he could v o
get his suspension overmerned, because
the Florida legislature only met every
rwo years, Bur in 1923, the Florida
Senare upheld Turner's removal,
leaving him only one option for
regaining the office of Shenff, v seek
re-election the following year. Turncr
was oprmistic abour his chances of
suceess — after all, he had been elected
three imes and Bryan hadn't even been
elecred oncel The former Sheriff had
been very popular with the people of
Broward County, and he sull had many

supporters in the community. Turner
muade every effort to ensure his vicuory
in the 1924 Democratic primary, and
he represented a very real threar w
Sheritf Bryan's bid to remain in
office.”

However, Paul Bevan hadn’t been
idle in the polideal realm either, and
ultmarely it was he who emerged
victortious from the primary, thus
winning four more years in office. In
January 1925, two months after John
Ashley and hls companions met their
hlu-mi} end, Paul Bryan was sworn in
once again as the Sheaff of Broward
County,

Things were looking good for the
Shenff’s Office, some might even say
“prosperous.” The deparmment’s law
enforcement responsibilities would
steadily increase as the populaton of
the county grew, bue this would be
matched by an inerease in the number
of deputies, and soon there would be
five, then six, then seven. The amount
of paperwork would mount also, but
“Biag Bill"” was on wop of ir. And this
increased paperwork was nor ar all a
bad thing for Sherff Bryan, since his
income was dependent on the fees his
office generated,

The following year, however,
things began w change. The economic
downturn wis beginning to be felr and
the political climate seemed 1o be
underpoing some changes as well. In
August 1926, Chicf Depury Hicks
would write 1o a friend up North who
had asked abowt the situation n
Broward: “™Now abour local condinons
here, they are rotten.” He went on to
aaled thae “the City is rassing all kind o)
of hell with the Chief of Police and
Police officers, threatening 10 dismiss
them etc., 1f the own was nort
immediately cleaned up, and also
casring insmnuations against the
Shenff s office. It seems so ddiculous
because there 15 not a cleaner litdle
town, ..

Things would ger even worse
when, on Seprember 18, 1926, a
disastrous huericane hir the southeast
copst of Florida. There were many
deaths, and several areas of Browared

— including Fort Landerdale, Dania,
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Hillmvlinde Ceorune, shoang sosee of B deawsage froms the baericane of Sefdewler 18, 1926,

and Hollrwood — were devastared.
Coming on top of the inancial decline
in Florida, this storm strained
community resources almost 1o the
breaking poant. It was a very bad year
for Broward County residenis,

The worst of the vear was stll not
over for "Big Baill™ Hicks, however.
Although a high profile pubhic official
often makes many friends, he
frequently makes enemies as well, and
the Chief Deputy was no exception.
He had indeed made enemies -
pethaps oo many, as subscquent
events would bear our. “Big Bill” had,
for example, in the wake of the
deptember 18 hurncane, thwarted the
ciforts of Fort Lauderdale’s Mavor,
Jack Tidball vo declare marual law. ™
Thiz would be neither l1u|:'-‘|_!ru1l:|':|'| T
forgiven, and it only added to the
animosity toward Hicks already
harbored by several influential
Broward polincians, Whatever the case
might be, for reasons notentrely clear,
on October 3, 1926, Sheriff Brvan
fired his Chief Depury.™

The loss of his depury shenff's
salary caused Hicks no grear financial
stress, but for the first ome since he
had moved o Forr Lauderdale, “Big
Ball” was without the status of an
official position. 5o he decided w seck
clected office himself. There was one
major problem, to be sure - the
Democratc primary, which was the key

1o being elected o office in Broward,
had already been held! However, Hicks
pot around this obstacle by running as
a “write-in" candidare for a POsiton
most people weren't cven aware
existed, and forwhich no one had cven
bathered o file. When the election
results were printed in the local papers,
their readers were quite surpnsed o
learn thar William A, Hicks had been
elected Justice of the Peace for the
Third Districe. Hicks g-:-:pﬂ;.-:.:«;-_-d his
gramude o the 18 friends who had
written in his name on their ballos,
claiming that their decision w do so
had been “unsolicited and without my
having been consulted.”™™ 1t is
doubtful that very many Broward
County residents belioved this,

r.h.-::l'r'lh.' ||:i|;‘.'k~:' 1.']1;-:.'l:i1:|'r|.| II'H..'
County Commission absolutely
refused o recognize him as a Jusdce
of the Peace, contending thar this
office did not exist in Broward County.
Monctheless, Hicks did make some
headway. First, he reeeived his official
commigsion from the Governor of
Florida, and then he opened an office
and proceeded ro funcion as a Justdce
of the Peace. He conducted Justuce
Court regularly, held ar least one
coroner’s inguest, and on a number of
occasions signed orders remanding
prisoners 10 the care of his old boss,
Hicks had no problem careving owt the
dutics of a Jusice of the Peace — his

problem was getting paid for doing sa.,
He submitted his bills to the Counry
Commission on a regular basis, bue
they refused o pay, saving his office
was non-existent. In an attempr to
force the County Commissioners to
pay him, Hicks took them to court, but
hie lost, Tt was his intennon o take this
marter 0 the Florida Supreme Court
on appeal, but before thar could
happen, he would find himself faced
with far more significant pr-c:-hl-:ma""

The former Chief Depury wasn't
the only one with tmoubles, however,
COrnly twes months after Flicks” elecnon
as Justice of the Peace, some of his
r.uEI'nl::l.' .':'i-hq;l‘l.l-r.-ri Hr'r'i.:;- t_'q:ll:_'qlgl,li,'ri
would find themselves immersed in
sigmificant legal difficultes, As a mamer
of fact, aff of Broward's regular
depuries, as well as the Shenff, would
soon be facing problems much grearer
than those (vet) contronting “Big Bll”

In an interesting prelude to what
WS [0 COme, O .'||.F|ﬂ| 15, 1926, 12 E
Hambsch, Federal Prohibiton
Administrator for Flonda, wrote a
letter to Shenff Brvan. It started off
with the statement thar “the general
impression throughout the United
States outside of Florida is that the
State and Ciry authorites in Flonda are
doing little or nothing rowards
enforcement of the Natonal
Peohibirion Laws or the Stare
Prohibition Laws." The federal official
went on to ask the Sheriff for a
monthly report on the arrests and
seizures in his jurisdiction, so thar
Hambeeh would “be in a !Hwirtl:ll 1]
tell the truth abouwr Florida in regard
to enforcement of the liquor s, . . P

In his Aprl 17, 1926 response o
the Prohibinon Admimistramoss leter,
Shernift Bryan was quite solicitous,
saving 1 am ready to cooperate with
vou and vour forces ar all nmes, and
nothing would please me any better
than to have the prohibiton laws
enforced one hundred percent.”
However, Brvan went on w complain
that in the past, tederal Prohibinon
officers had come into his jurisdiction
without advance warning and made
minor arrests, blowing major
investigations being conducted by the



Sherifi’s OMffice. Monetheless, the
Shenff hastened w assure the federal
official of his good intentons “1 do
not expect you to give me advance
information and 1 do not wane you 1o
labor under such impression, but T do
feel thar if vour agents would ger
acquainted with us and gera livde closer
together in a friendly way, that it would
help 1o bring on better cooperation
when the necessity arose,™
Apparently the federal Prohibition
officials ook Bryan at his word and
chose not 1w provide him with any
advance information on raids they
planned. They cerrainly did, however,
arrange for thewr agents o become
berter acquainted with the Shenft and
his deputics, although perhaps not in
the “friendly way™ that the Sherift had
anticipated. Moreover, Hambsch
clearly intended o keep his carlier
promise 1o Bryan “ro broadcast
through the press the truth in regand
to the work that vou are doing,™*
The result was at 7 um. on January
27,1927, tederal agenss swooped down
on Broward County in an atack on
what :l"'ll,'}' claimed was one of the
biggest liquor conspiracies and illicir
supply operations in the United States.
According 10 one newspaper report,
this massive ettort involved “every
prohibition enforcement agency of the
United States povernment,”™ A
number of raids were carried ow

simultancously by 18 federal
Prohibition agents and 12 Coast
Guardsmen, and one surprising result
of these raids was that much of
Broward County was left without local
law enforcement. The first actions
taken by the raiders included the arresis
of Sherff Hryan and seven of his
deputies — i entire Browand Connty
Yberff s Office — as well as six Fort
Lavderdale police officers including
the cins Assistant Chief of Police Bert
Croft. Ar the same tme, a number of
ather people were also arrested, The
arrest warrants for the Shenft and his
men specifically alleged conspiracy o
violate the Prohibicon s In additon
to Sheriff Bryan, those from his
department reported to have been
arrested were Chief Deputy Robere
Kendall and Deputies Jor Shiver, Byrne
B. Baker, . P Marun, Glen Maugans,
E.GG. Grimes, and Narthan Shiver.®
According to published repors,
the prisoners were all brought to the
local Coast Guard staton and searched
for weapons, The members of the
Sheriff's Deparement and the city
|1-n||r‘|;' officers were all armed when
arrested. They were disarmed by the
federal officers, according 1o news-
paper accounts, but “they were
not deprved of their badges of office” ™
At a preliminary hearing, bail for the
Sheriff and the Assistant Police Chief
was set at $5,000 each, and $2,000 each

Browvrd Conrty Meorifine Y00l avea 1930

Howgarred Lapary 20000-2000 = |0

ot CVOTYIHIC clse, Brvan then made a
starement o the press, denying any
wrongdoing, 1 have in no way violared
my oath of office, nor have 1 been
guilty of any conspircy to violate the
law,” the Sheaff claimed. “1 have no
fear of the outcome of any
investgation, .

Despite the fact that he was facing
senous criminal charges, and thar his
cntre deparmment had been labeled
corrupt by the Federal Government,
Shenff Bryvan was not removed from
office by Florida Governor John W,
Martin, This is partcularly notcaorthy
because his predecessor, Sheriff
Turner, had been removed for far less
cause, which was the oceasion for
Bryan becoming Shenff in the firse
place. However, although Bryan wasn't
suspended, and was ulumately allowed
tor finish the remaining two years of
his term, the I;,'I‘Iil,t]_r'l;:t ol {'H'rrl,l.lill;illll i
the Shenff’s Office would ultimately
end any chances he might have had for
re-election.

Strangely enough, a few months
after his arrest, Shenff Brvan found
himself in wvery real danger of
suspension from office by Governor
Martin, but this was for something
complerely unconnecred to boor-
leggng, The new threat mo his positon
came not from the criminal charges he
faced, but from his fallure o ke
decisive action quickly enough when
the Governor demanded an end o
gambling ar the Pompano Racetrack.
The Flonda Supreme Court had ruled
that the betting scheme emploved a
thart track was illegal, and this certainly
put Shenff Bryan in a very difficuls
posinon. He didn't want to upset the
investors who built the racetrack and
hawld 20 much ar stake, nor did he have
any desire 1o go counter to the wishes
of the many local people who backed
its operagon. Nonetheless, the Shenff
ultimarely decided thar it was probably
best o eor in the direction of caution,
and he sent deputies 1o arrest four of
the tracks aperators on gambling
charpges. However, the Beoward County
judge who heard the case, Fred B
Shippey, ruled that these men had mor
broken any laws —a local judge was, in
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cifect, avtempring 1o overrule the

Flonda Supreme Cour!™

When word of this reached
Oovernor Martan, he was funows. He
immediately sent a relegram o Sheriff
Bryan, which read in part: 1 shall
expect you to break up the gambling
apt the Pompano racetrack this
afternoon. If gambling connnues there
this afternoon, as much as [ regret ir,
am going w0 appoint a new sheaff for
vour county.” The Governor had made
it clear o Brvan that if any further
pamblhing were to take place ar the
Pompano track, it would mean the
lawman's by The Shefl konew thas
the only way he could be absolutely
cerrain that no gambling occurred
there would be 1o close the racerrack
down, and that is exacely what he
dic. "™

Whin the owners of the Pearmpiiri
H:I.I;'L'If::l._'i-: I.:II:I._'I' 1'|'|.."|1,||:_' RN lasi & ffeart v
revive horse racing ar rhar site, the
Crovernor quickly wired Shenff Bryan,
asking if he was able and willing to pur
a stop to this new attempt o vielate
the state’s gambling laws, Were the
Sherff unable ro uphold these laws,
the Governor wrote, “if NECeSSary, |
will send stare troops 1w Pompano o
enforce them.” Bryan certainly did not

aant the Natonal Guard policing his
county, and he therefore wasted no
e i assuringe the Governor that he

was both willing and able wo carry ow
his law enforcement responsibilities.
Apparently this was enough to
convince the states chiel executivie that
Broward™s Sheriff had learned his
leszop, 14

Although Shenff Bryvans most
F1I’-I.'H"-‘ill}_r| e shlems were under control,
at least remporanly, the ribulanons of
his former Chief Depurty, William A,
Hicks, were just beginning, O fufy 7,

1927, Hicks s arrested om o charge of

firxi degres morder? Whae began to unfold
wias thie most sensational murder tral
in Broward County history. To this day
no one 5 really sure whether Hicks was
guilty or whether he was framed - and
some even questioned whether the
man he was accused of murdering was
even dead!
All of this had begun two years
revicmsly when a muonlared, minshoe-
I't|.|1.[|i_'-:_1 !HH_I}' WS fl:llmlj !-II:I:I.III"I_L: I a
canal. Chief Depury Hicks, then sill
in the good graces of Shenff Bryan,
was placed in charge of the
investigation. The coroner’s inguest
initially concluded only that the
unknown victim had been murdered
|1:|' someone who was aleo unknown,
The body was buried, and then bater
exhumed, but again could not be
idenified. Afrer a second exhumanon,
the vicom was identfied as Robert
Reese Barber, a local carpenter who

had been mussing since abowt the ome
that the body had been found. The
baody was then buried for a thied nme,
and the case file gathered duse for rvo
vears until Hicks was accused of the
crme,

When Hicks was arrested for
Barbers murder, shock waves went
throweh the community, and the story
which would ultimarely unfold was
stranger and more convoluted than
anvone could have possibly foreseen.
It musr be remembered thar this was
not a community that was easy o shock
— the people of Broward in the
previous six months had seen the entire
Sheriff’s Depariment arrested, along
with a sieable [OERIon of the police
department of their county sear, They
had also seen a local judpe artempt 1o
overrube the Florda Supreme Court,
and the state™ Governor threaten to
send in troops to enforce sote law in
their county, Nonetheless, the arrest of
Hicks did indeed shock the 1H'l:|n'|'|-||:_' of
Browaed. '™

The case against Hicks appeared
simple, ar least on the surface. About
cight months before he disappeared,
the murder victim — or presumed
victim, for hig identity would later be
i ||;:||_':.'t1| ||::||.'-,| — |!|;|.-|_| |:|-|_1.'|1 '\-I,,'rll‘l;,'lfll;_'l.,"\-l.i t-:n:_lr ]
time in the Broward County jail for a
minor offense. Depury Hicks was then
the warden of the jail, and apparently
it was his practice to have inmates do
work on his own personal properties.
While serving his jail sentence, Barber,
a skilled carpenter, worked on some
homes l'H,'iIIF__ constructed |::|:; Hicls=,
Problems arose when Hicks allepedly
refused to pay Barber for his work, and
upon his release the carpenter filed a
complaint with his union. Barber was
subsequently arrested a few more
times, including once, the month
before he disappeared, when he was
charped with assault and battery upon
Hicks. The most damning evidence
against Hicks was the esumony of mvo
supposed evewimesses o the muorder
wher elaimied o have been with Hicks
when he murdered Barber,

“Big Bill" Hicks was represented
bw very able atorneys and there would
be many legal mancuvers employed
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before this case finally came to a
conchision, However, the essence of
the former Chief Depuey’s defense was
quite simple — he clasmed thar he had
been framed! This cerainly was not an
original defense, bur as the legal
proceedings conunued, many people
found Hicks® claim 1o be more
believable than most of the
prosecution wimnesses, Hicks' lawyers
arpued that the local authortes had
coinspired 1o have their client convicted
on a trumped-up charge, and there
WEre many circumsmnces that seemed
o lend credence to this allegaton.
Cerminly Hicks had made many
influental enemses in Broward County,
His conflict with the Mavor of Fort
Lauderdale duning the aftermath of the
previous year’s hurnicane had created
a powerful enemy. The County
Commissioners 3o disliked him thar
they had waged a court banle o avoid
paving his fees as Jusnce of the Peace.
Even the Circuit Courr judge for
Broward County, the jurist who should
have heard the case, had disqualified
himsell because he was personally
prejudiced against Hicks. And in a
change of venue mortion, Hicks
claimed thar his jealous enforcement
of Prohibition laws made so many
cnemies for him that he could never
get a fair tmal in Broward County, But
all of this was secondary.

At the heart of Hick's defense was
the contention that Sheaff’ Bryan and
his deputies were out w get the former
Chief Depury in any way thar they
could, because they believed thar i st
Hicks who bad mpped off rhe Feds! The
arrests of the Sherift and his deputies,
as well as Forr Lauderdale’s Assistant
Chief of Police and five of his officers,
apparently  all  resulted from
information supplied 1o a federal
Prohibation Administrator by William
A. Hicks. The newspaper headlines, the
embarrassment of being jailed while
still in uniform, the public censure, all
of these indignites had infuriated the
indicted lawmen, The way they saw ir,
all of their problems stemmed from a
vindictive former colleagues “pay-
back™ for his being fired, Now,
according to Hicks® attorneys, the

Shenff and his depunies were out for
their own revenge!

The artorneys for the defense were
able o present substantal evidence wo
support the contention that Hicks was
framed. One of the seven deputes
arrested earlier that year westified that
he and others had indeed conspired “wo
ger” the former Chief Depury in
retaliation for the mid by federal agenis.
Other testimony indicated that another
of the arrested depunes had revealed
plans to kill Hicks. And the rovo alleged
eyewitnesses 10 the murder? Well, it
mrned out that they were a couple of
confessed bootlegpers, who were
restifying under grants of immunity
from prosecution, Interestingly
enough, these rwo criminals had also
been deputized by Shenff Brvan on
several occasions, once during the 1926
hurncane and again just several months
prior to Hicks' arrest, during the
Pompano Racetrack hasen,

The state’s case was clearly flawed,
but it was convineing o many. The
prosecuting attorneys countered Hicks”
claim of being a vigorous enforcer of
the Prohibition laws by presenting
deposinons in which witnesses smared
thar Hicks associated with boorlegpers
and ook kickbacks from speakeasies
And, of course, the prosecutors also
presented their two  supposed
eyvewimesses (o the killing, But perhaps
the most sensational testimony was
that of Deputy Shenff Jor Shiver, who
testificd abour a conversation he
claimed to have had wath Hicks about
six monrhs afrer the discovery of
Barber’s body. It was the contention
of this witness that dunng their office
conversation Hicks had casually
confessed wo murdering Barber!

During cross examination, when
Shiver — who was the depury 1EI|:!_I|;:I
o have planned o kill Hicks -
asked whether he had imm:dinlrl}'
reported this “murder confession™ o
thie Shentt, He answered that he hadn'.
(Thiz confession, if it occurred, would
have raken place almost a vear before
Hicks lost his job as Chiel Depury)
When asked why he had held back this
important informanon, Deputy Shiver
responded, in effecy, that he was afraid

of Hicks. One histortan larer made the
following comment relative o this
restuumony: “Sheriff Bryan had a
reputation for hidng the toughest men
in the county as his deputies, and one
of them had testfied under oath thar
he was afraid of another. If not for
the stern warning from Judge Parks ar
the beginning of the tal, no doubr
Shiver's statement that he was afemid
of Hicks would have caused an
outburst of lughrer!™™

Whatever the relative menits of the
opposing aguements, on September 11,
1927, the jury returned their verdict:
Guilty of murder in the firse dq_L,n:'E’
The defense asked for a new trial, citing
67 reasons why it should be granted.
Included among these was aletter from
the warden ar Ratford  Srarne
Penitennary, stanng thar a convict (and
former member of the Ashlev gang)
who had previously been reluctant, was
now walling to come forwand o prove
Hicks' innocence, The judge turned
down the request for a new mal and
sentenced Hicks to life ar hard labor,

Hicks spent almost a year and a
half in state prizon, during which ome
he received a senous injury from which
he never fully recovered. But on
February 13, 1929, Hicks® 44th
birthday, the Florda Supreme Court
reversed his murder conviction, A
second il was held, with argumenis
being made similar o those at the fiest
irtal. However, this ome the resulis
were different = on Movember 23,
1929, a deadlocked jury reported 1o the
judge an even split, six for conviction,
six for acquittal, The judge declared a
imistrial.

The state charged Hicks with
murder once again, and his third tmal
was held in Apeil 1930, At this trial,
evidence was presented by the defense
which cast doubt as 1o whether a
positive identification of the the
victim’s body had ever really been
made. In addinon, new evidence was
introduced thar strongly supported
Hicks’ contention that he had been
framed, A bootepger restified thar he
had offered 1o put up money for a fund
o “ger” Hicks, this offer being made
public ar a meeting of law enforcement
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officers, Among those present at this
meeting, which ook place righe after
the federal raids thar were so central
tor this whaole case, were Shenff Bryan,
three of his deputies, and the Fort
Lauderdale Assistant Chief of Police
(all of whom had been arrested during
those rids). And one of the deputies
who had been present was Jot Shiver,
who later claimed thar Hicks had
confessed murdenng Barber (ther
resmmony was given by a liquor dealer
who said that threars had kept him
from testfying earlier. This man
reported being rold that if he testified
at Hicks” first trial and provided
evidence o support Hicks™ claim of
innocence, he would “be aken for a
ridde.” This witness also said thar he had
been “shaken down' by Chief Depury
Robert Kendall for a conmmbution
pay for Hicks” prosecuton.'

On Apnl 20, 1930, William A.
Hicks was acquitted of the charge of
murder. After almost three vears, the
former Chiel Deputy was a free man,
The following day he went w pick up
some of his personal belonpgings that
had been held by the Shenft's Office
since his areest three vears earlier. At
this tme, “Big Ball” indicated that he
planned to renew some old Mendships,
arvd that he intended to spend as much
time as possible in the open air and
sunshine.™ In August of 1930, Hicks
reportedly regisiered as a vorer and
pitidd his poll mxes, ar the same ume
claiming to sull be a Justice of the
Peace in Broward."™ However, it
appears that he left Fort Lauderdale
soon after that, evenmaally moving to
Utica, MNew York,

Druring the three vears that Hicks
had been bogped down in a legal
quagmire, his nemesis, Shenff Bryan,
had been having problems of his own.
While Hicks was incarcerated in the
state prison, the 1928 Democratic
primary had been held in Broward.
Four vears previously, incumbent
Sheriff Paul €. Beyan had beaten off
the challenge of Broward's first Sherff,
A, W Turner — however, in that
electoral contest Bryan didn't have
federal charges hanging over his head.
This dme, when Browards first two

sheriffs faced each other again, iv was
Turner who would emerge victorious,

Bryan's defear in this five-way
primary clection spelled the end of his
polivieal eareer, bur his legal difficulnes
weere far from over. In December 19285,
Brvan and 17 codefendants went on
trial in U.5. District Court for
conspiracy to violate the National
Prohibition Enforcement Act. One of
the witnesses at this mal was “Big Bill”
Hicks, who was broughr to Miami from
the stare prison farm at Raiford in
order 1o wsnfy against Bryan. Hicks
told how the Sheff and some of his
deputies received weekly payofts from
booteggers, and he also testified that
they distributed confiscated hguor
stored in the county jail building, Hicks
further alleged that during the
Christmas holidays in 1925, one
bootlegger gave Shenft Bryan $12,006)
in “protection money,” and that the
Shenff ordered his Chiel Deputy o
stay away from some arcas and o leave
certain stills alone"*

Although Bryan wasn't convicred,
as this court proceeding ended in a
mistrial, the Sheriff's legal problems
would conrinue. He had to go through
a second rrial on the same charges,
However, this oo ended in a misonal,
at which point the federal government
simply decided w drop the charges
against Bryan. Although not comvicred
in either tmal, Bryan and his deputies
were never exoncrated cither. This
inconclusive ending of Bryan's three-
year legal battle came in 1930 - the
same year in which his former Chief
Dyeputy, “Big Ball™ Hicks, was acquitted
in his third murder tmal.

After he lefi office, Paul Bryan
remained in Broward, operating
Bryan's Café in Dania, He died on July
16, 1942, ar the age of 51, The
newspiper obituanes took note of the
fact that his death occurred only 36
hours atter that of his sister, the former
postmaster at Fort Lauderdale with
whom he had worked before becoming
Brovward Countys second sheriff, ™

Bryan’s legacy? He had been the
first shenff 1o bang natonal anenton
to the Broward County Sheriff’s

COffice. Regretrably, he did so by
sullying its peputation. Years later, a
Forr Lauderdale attorney who knew
both Bryvan and Hicks _.:.h.m::u_r_ was
asked if he thought Bryan was
responsible for the scandals that
ocourred during his administration. His
reply is probably the bese key we'll ever
have o understanding what happened
back then. OFf Bryan's responsibility for
the problems, the lowyer said simply:
“He asked for ir. He hired a bunch of
thugs as deputics™™

Even after Bryan had been
indicred, there were many people in
Broward County who continued o
believe in him. For example, in an
anonymous lerter, “a few betrer citizens
of Floranada™ (which was how the
lenter was signed) complained abour a
loecal bootlegger's operanons, and they
asked the Shentt wo invesogawe. They
claimed that no effective action was
being taken by city officials, which was
their reason for contacting Bryan, who
wis obviouwsly viewed as more
trustworthy, However, this confidence
apparently did not extend o all of his
deputies, because the letrer also
specified thar the invesdgaton should
omly be conducred by “a trusoworty [
deputy that don't fall for a little

prafe,™

As for Bill Hicks, his guilt or
innocence would be debared by long-
term Brownrd residentz for decades
Afrer his many bartles with the Fon
lauderdale power structure, it did not
surprise most people when Hicks left
the arca, presumably aking his wife
with him. However, documents from
this period suppest that Hicks’
problems with the Broward Sherff's
CMfice were not yer over, and that his
marital affairs may have fueled these,

Gerrrude W, Hicks, “Big Bills"
wife, made the newspapers several
times during this penod. One story
concerning Mrs. Hicks appeared in the
Micmei Herald in June 1928, when her
hushand was just completing his ninth
manth in the state prison at Raiford.
The headline reac: “LIFE ENDED AS
MIAMI POLICE FAIL TO ACT,” and
the report thar followed was quire



critical of the Miami police, It seems
that one evening, shortly after
midnight, a woman reported o the
police that a man planned to commit
suicide i his hotel room. It was raining
at the tme, the Heald reported, and
the police chose not o tollow up on
the woman®s warning, telling her that
they hud investganed simlar TepOTTS 111
the past and none wiened out 1o be
facmunl. Ar abour 330 am., the man
she had been concerned abiowr lalled
humself,

The woman in this story was MMrs
Wilham A. Hicks, who was hiving in
Miami at the time, The suicide vicam
WS @ I!'r_'_!l-].'t.';ll'-uh,] man who had
recently deserted his wife and family
in Jacksonville, Florida. After he and
Gertrude Hicks had dinner wopgether,
she had doven dhis man to his hoel
room at about midnight, afrer which
she sought help from the police. Tt
murned oue thar the dead man had made
Mrs, Hicks his chief beneficiary, only
leaving his wife the sum of one
dallar!®

When “Big Bl Hicks got out of
prison, things may not have been going
all that well between his wife and him.
."'|.]1|:I|uu'qh RO TOHOFTS have Hicks
taking Gertrude with him when he left
Fort Lauderdale, a series of messages

sent by the Broward Shenff 1o various
ather law enforcement officials
sugpests that the former Chiet Depury
might have actually left his wite behind
when he traveled north. During the
first ewo vears after Hick's acquirtal, a
number of leters and eleprams were
sent from the Broward Sheaffs Office,
requesting the arrest of William A,
Hicks for desernon and non-support
of his wife. In December 1930, the
sherff in Jacksomvalle receved such a
request, ' Two weeks later, a letwer
was sent (0 the Shenff of Purnam
County, Flonda, asking him o “be on
the lookout™ for Hicks, ™ At the same
time, another letter was sent o the
shenff in Bartow, Flonda, this messape
included the details thae Hicks i
imterested in and pays quite a bit of
attention o a Miss Batley s Lakeland,
This lady is [a] libranan.™™® Shonly
after this, the shenff in Orlando was
contacted. This message also included
personal dermils: “It is reported he 15
living in Orlando with one Dolly
Morgans, a decided blonde. He is
.'-.|.|.|r||-|a-:-.r.'|] 1o be running |1|.!|.|.1:||.'1 draves
a Cadillac sedan™ In March of 1951,
the shenff m Unca, New York was
given a week-end address for Hicks in
that city, and asked to arrest him."™
And on Christimas Eve, 1931, a
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telegram was sent 1o the same shenif
providing an address in Utica where
Hicks was expected w be spending
Christmas Day along with a request
that he be arrested there on charges
of desertion and non-suppore.'™
Apparently these charges were
evenmually resolved, because Hicks was
reported to have resumed his law
enforcement career in Utica, Mew
York, According to one account, he
became the Chiet of Police in that
citv™ and another FCport indicated
that he became a “city marshal”
there.™ Mhany vears later, however, the
Chief of Police in Utea, after an
extensive review of his department’s
personnel reconds, reported there was
no indication that Hicks had ever
worked as a lawman in that ciey™
Whatever might be the acrual case
regarding “Big Bill 5" emplovment after
leaving Florida, his rwo years in prison
and the ordeal of three trials had
eventually taken their toll on this once
hearty and robust man., In 1940, he
died of a heart atack at age 55." Mot
||||:|_|_-I alter Hicks died in Unica,
Gertrude W, Hicks, his widow, was
married in the Broward County
courthouse toa man from Miami,™ O

[aring s Halfandale
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e A W Turner, defeating Paul

Bryan in the 1928 pamary

mist have been a sweet victory indeed.
Browenrds fiest SherifT fele that he hoad
been unfiirdy suspended in 1922, and
when he had tred to regain his old
office at the polls in 1924, it was Bryan
who had prevented that. However,
after Turner’s own primary victory four
years larer, there was sill one further
obstacle to be overcome before Turner
could once again take over as
Broward's chicf law enforcement
officer. In 1928, the Republicans had
nominated a candidate who actaally
had a chance to win the peneral
election, so ex-Sherff Turner had to
rusn 4 major campaign for the second
nme that yvear. However, when the
Movember election was over, the
winner was A W Turner, Demiocrae,
with some 2400 vobes, over Fred M.
Wertz, Republican, who had received
omly 400 votes less, € I January 8, 1929,
A, W Turner was once again sworn in
a5 the Sheriff of Broward County,
beginning his fourth term in office
falthough only his sccond full torm).™
At the start of Shenff Turner’s
new term, he hired a bookkeeper and
three full-time deputies = not

SHERIFF
A. W. TURNER
(1929-1933)

surprisingly, none of Paul Bryan's men
were retained. Each depury received a
salary of $150 per month, which was
an improvement over the $125 per
month offered by the previous sheriff

in a 1926 lener wo 2 job applicant.™

The salary of the bookkeeper, Sarah
H. Freeman, was the same as that of a
deputy sherff, The sic-month financial
reports filed by Sheriff Turner for the
next four years sugpest that these base
salpries remained seady through the
end of 1931, although things changed
in 1932 when the Shenff's Office faced
a disastrous financial crisis,™

One of the three new depunes that
Turner hiced was W, H. “Hobb"”
Campbell, whao resigned as chief of the
Dania Fire Department to ke the
position of deputy shenff., Campbell
would remain with the Sherff for all
four years of Turner’s new werm in
office (although not without
controversy). At the end of 1929,
Depury A, I3 Marshall was hired as
Warden 1o l'l,:'rll.'l.l.'l..' 'k"i-'._|. “Prad™ Howell,
whi had been one of the onpinal three
depurties. The new jailer would remain
throughout the rest of the Shenff's
term {and for many years atterward).
Chver the next two years, the number

of deputies increased by one a year
Although there were a few depurties
who only stayed a short while, by and
large Shenft Turner had a fairly steady
work force, and cach of the five
deputies in the department in 1932 had
been with the Shenff for two vears or
longer. In addinon w Campbell and
Marshall, they were Depurics R. B
McDomnald, ‘l.’:rb,ll Wright, and C. ].
Turner — the last named deputy was
listed on a payroll roster as
“Fingerprint Department,” but he was
also  directly involved in law
enforcement activities, as shown when
he and another depury caprured a
suspected bank robber from Texas, In
addition, even though he wasn't listed
as such in the department’s otficial
reparts, C, Joseph Turner was also the
Sheriff's son = this was the first bit of
nepotsm to appear in the history of
the Broward Shenff s Office, althouwgeh
it cerrainly wouldn't be the lase™

Although most of the carly depury
sheriffs in Broward County were
reputed to be “tough™ (read “brutal”
in many cases), especially with
mdnonies, it s tare that a e u1'|]'.|-1ai;nt
of “police brualiy” would receive
public avennon. However, such a case
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did occurin 1929, Trscems that Depury
“Hobb™ Campbell had gone w a
chicken farm run by Emil M, Gerre,
and he and Gertz had potten into an
argument after the farmer refused 1o
sell Campbell any chickens on eredin.
Tt was alleged that the deputy then
attacked Gertz and beat him up. After
this, Camphbell left with the chickens,
and Gerrz was broughr for medical
attention. Such an incident probably
never wonld have come to anyone’s
attention, exocpt for the fact that Gertz
was a disabled war veteran, and reports
of his being beaten by a deputy sherift
had Hollywood residents up in arms,
Following the alleged assauly, Campbell
turned in his resignation to the
Sheriff, ™

The next day the former deputy
claimed that Gertz had called him a liar
and other names, and he denied that
he had hie the chicken farmer more
than twice."™ Two days laver, Sheniff
Turner reinstated Campbell as a
deputy, stating that he felr thart
Campbell was justified in acring as he
did.™ The day after the Sherff made
this statement, officials of the
Hollywood Amencan Legion Post
announced that their organization
would back Gertz in his case against
Campbell, whom they accused of
commirting assault and barrery upon a
disabled veteran. A resolution adopted
by the Legionnaires relative wo this
matter stated that “When the shernff
of the county contends that one of his
deputies was justified in beating up a
helpless, gassed, mentally sick war
verern, ierespective of provocarion,
who had already given his all for his
country, and our investigating
committce finds thar the brueal anack
wias unwarranted, we wish o let the

Sherff know that the matter is not vet
ended,™™

Several days later, a warrant was
issued by the county judge charging
Depury Campbell with assault and
battery.*® At a preliminary hearing,
Crerte, whose lungs had been severely
damaged dunng Wordd War I, tesnfied
that when he had refused w sell the
deputy any chickens, Campbell had
knocked him down into a pile of

washrubs, Ar that point, the farmer
sad, he ran into the swamp o avoid
being struck in the chest again, [t was
then, he went on, thar the depury
placed his hand on his gun, and called
for Grertz to come our of the swamp.
Afraid of being shor, he did so, Gerr
claimed, and was struck again, and then
had his shirt and undershirt torn from
hiz back. Following this, the chicken
farmer said, Campbell rold him w go
it the howse and lie down, and threw
some money at him in payment for the
worn shire ™

When it was Campbell’s wrmn 1w
testify, he admitted that he had in face
struck the disabled veteran twice, but
he claimed thar because Gertz had
called him wvile names, he had every
right to hit the man. Not surprisingly,
Campbell was bound over for reial.
Mevertheless,  Sheriff  Turner
announced that the deputy would not
be suspended from his dutes, pending
the ourcome of the mal™ A few days
later, however, Deputy Campbell
resigned for a second time, giving as
his reason that he had received severl
arteacnve offers to enter invo business
enterprises. Concerning his depury,
Turmer smated that “Hobb™ Campbell
was one of the most efficient and
fearless deputies that he had ever had
ot his staff and the Sherff went on to
gay that “records will show that
convictions have been found in nearly
every case of arrest he has made,"™™"
Following his resignaton, the former
deputy wrote a letter 1o the Fort
Landerdale Daily News, in which he
denied the rumor thar he had been
forced to resign. He admitted once
more that he had hir Gerte, but
emphasized that this was only after the
veteran had called him names. Ir was
also, he now claimed - apparenily for
the first dme — afrer the disabled man
had struck him firse. The names he was
called, Campbell assured the reader,
“would make any man do, no doubr,
the same thing, or even worse, in the
defense of his honor"H

When Campbell resigned for a
second time, Deputy . A, “Gus”
Boberts was hired 1o fill the resulant
vacancy. Roberrs had formerly served

as a deputy sheriff in Columbia
Counry, Florida, and had also been the
Chief of Police in Lake Ciry™

On Movember 7, 1929, Campbell’s
case went o rrinl. Coincidentally, the
court had justaccepred a “no contest™
plea from Fort Lauderdale’s Chief of
Police, who had been charged with
assault and battery upon two local
youths."®  Camphell’s court
appearance, however, had a happier
outcome for the accused - afrer 15
minutes, the jury acquinied the former
depury. A shorr dme larer, Sheriff
Tumer reinstared “Hobb™ Campbell as
a depury®®

Only eight months after Shenft
Turner returned w his old office, an
event occurred in Broward County
which drew national attention. This
was the hanging of James Horace
Alderman, the only legal exccunion ever
to take place in Broward. The
circumstances surrounding Alderman’s
crime — ultimately judged as Piracy —
and also his punishment, were
somewhat bizarre,

On Auguse 7, 1927, a Coast Guard
cutter had caprured a “rum boat™ in
the warers berween Florida and the
Bahamas. The rwo smugglers who
were aboard the vessel - James Homee
Alderman and Robert E. Weech —were
searched for weapons and mken into
custody, but not bound or confined, A
shore mme later, while the Coast Guard
crew members were occupied with
their dutes, Alderman produced a Colt
auromaric which he had concealed and
shot the vessels commander through
the back of the head. Shootng the
motor machinists mate immediately
afterward, Alderman wok control of
the cutter. A first, the killer planned
tor literally make his capoves “walk the
plank™ in rrue pirancal fashion, bur he
subsequently decided o set them adnft
in a burming boar instead. Before he
could carry out his plans, however,
several of his captives charged him.
Alderman shot and killed one of his
artackers, a secret service agent, and
seriously wounded another before
being subdued.™

The two rumrunners were
subsequently brought back o the
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Coast Guard base in Forr Lauderdale.
On January 27, 1928, a federal court
it Miami sentenced Alderman, dubbed
the “Gulf Stream Pirate,” to death by
hanging'™ Marnitime law required that
a pirare must be execured in the port
where he was first brought afrer his
arrest, and for Alderman thar was ot
Lauderdale®®  Thercfore the federal
judge who presided over his trial
gentenced Alderman to be hanged at
the jail in Broward County.  This
execution was originally scheduled for
May 11, 1928, bur the appeals process
would delay it for over a yeae.™ From
the dme he was c:tplurr.'d. Alderman
spent two yvears in jail, in Miami and
Jacksonville, while a legal bartle was
wa;.,u.u.l for hiz life. Ultimarely, his
appeals were exhavsted when the
United States Supreme Court upheld
his convicnon, and he was sentenced
e die on August 17, 1929, Two weeks
prior to this date, President Hoover
rejected Alderman’s application for
commutation to a life sentence'™
Interest in the upcoming execution
was very high, and the newspapers
were anxious o accommaodate the
public’s thirst for derails. However, the
federal judge involved in this case was
determined to keep the atfair as quiet
as possible. To this end, on July 1%,
l‘J._"..U',IIud;LiN: Halsted 1. Ritter wiote oo
Shenff 'l'urm-r that just as he had
ordered the U5, Marshal, he was now

Cogel Comvarrd Barre, Fort Lanwderelale, 19305

requesting that the Shenff withhold
from the press all information
regarding preparations for Alderman’s
hanging. The judpe concluded by
gaving that he waz going to do
;;t'u,'rj.'rhinh in his POWEE L0 Prevent any
derails concerning the execurion from
being leaked 1o the public.'™

A month before the scheduled
hanging, the Deputy L. 8. Marshal
from Miami came to Fort Lauderdale
w0 inspect the two possible sites for the
execunon, the new county jail and the
obd county jail. Shenff Turner assisted
the federal officer in this inspecuon,
and the Broward lawman suggested the
old jail as a more suitable locaton. His
opinion was based on the fact that the
obd jail had a cnurl}-am.l. which would
allow the hanging 1o be carnied out in
greater privacy, in keeping with the
judge’s order. The new jail, which
occupicd several floors in the recently
consrructed county courthouse, had no
similar outdoor space. However, the
decizion was made that Alderman
would be hanged at the new county jail,

o the courthouse roof, A wall was
1t be built around the scaffold o
ensure thar only the appointed legal
witnesses would view the hanging '™

The selection of the courthouse
roof created a problem for the
Broward County Commissioners, who
were very concerned abowur damage
being done o the roof of their brand
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new courthouse, The main difficulry,
they felt, was that repairs for the roof
were covered by a  bonding
arrangement that the county had with
the roofing contractor, but that
agreement would be nullified by the
building of a scaffold on the new roof,
Therefore, the Commissioners
decided, before preparatons for the
execution could begin the tederal
government would have to post a bond
sufficient to cover any damages thae
might occur to the courthouse roof*™

This request for a bond, in addinon
to a petinon being crculated by Fort
Lauderdale residents to have the
location of the execution changed, was
apparently oo much for Judge Ritter,
Five davs before Alderman’s scheduled
execution, he changed the location to
the Fort Lauderdale Coast Guard
base.™ A pallows was ¢rected in a
piant metal seaplane hangar ar the base,
and three U 5. deputy marshals drew
strws 10 see which one would spring
the trap in the gallows™

On the evening before his
eneeution, Alderman was moved from
Miami to the Broward County jail.
L'pon the prisoner’s arnval ar thar
facility, a reporter from the Mo
Heradd attempted to mke a picture of
the “"Gulfstream Pirite,” Two Deputy
L5 Marshals and a Border Patral
officer prevented this, roughing up the
photographer, David T Crooks, and
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damaging his camera. Then the federal
officers broughr the newspaperman
into Sheriff Tumer’s office and only
released him after he promised not to
write an account of the incident for
his paper. After his release, however,
Crooks old his story o the editor of
the Fort Lawderdiale Dadly News and to
the Arcsoaated Pres, When an accownt
of this incident was published, the
actionz of the three federal officers
caused a great deal of public
indignation, because Crooks was a
veteran and belonged 1o the ROTC, as
well as being a respected member of
the local American Legion. Ulnmately,
warrants were issued for the arrest of
all three federal officers on assault and
other charges.™

According w0 one newspaper
report, shortly after Alderman arrived
at Sheriff Turner's office in the
courthouse, *a touching scene ok
place.” The pnsoner had been taken
into 2 back room to await the arrival
of the county jailer, Deputy Sherff
“Dad™ Howell, who wag to escort
Alderman 1o a cell especially prepared
for him. “Upon the armval of “Dad’
Howells [« from the jail quarters on
the wop floor of the courthouse, the
condemned man jumped up from the
table in the back room where he was
being puarded and advanced wward his
new jailer with his hand extended in
greenng and a smile upon his face.
*Hello, this is “Dad™ Howells [#d, isn'
" hie said as he shook hands with the
genial jailor *1 am Homce Alderman,
vour new prsoner. | have seen vour
pacture in newspapers several ames and
that is how T hknow vou,” Alderman =ad,
"I have also heard many pleasant things
about you and the kindness vou show
o prisoners under vour care,” the
condemned man added.” The
newspaper account indicated thae the
deputy promised that he would take
good care of his new charge.™

The nexe day, Auguase 17, 1929,
Alderman arose early. Calling Depury
Howell, the prisoner ordered his
breakfast and are heartily. Shonly after,
Alderman was handouffed and brouaghe
dewn the three flights of stairs to a
waiting Lincoln patrol wapon

furnished by the Fort Lauderdale
Police Department. On the 10 minute
journey to the Coast Guard base, the
condemned man was surrounded by
five guards in the wagon, and the
vehicle was escorted by six automobiles
filled with tederal officers and deputies
from Dade, Palm Beach, and Broward
counties, At the base, Const Guards-
men carryving seevice rifles did picker
duty around the hangar where the
execurion was 1o mke place, while
others patrolled the penmeter of the
base. When the mororcade reached its
destination, Alderman was rushed
inside the hangar. In less than 20
minutes, he had prayed with his
spintual advisor and the ap-door of
the scaffold had been vested. Ar 603
a.m, the “Gulf Stream Pirare™ met the
fare that had always awaited those who
committed murder on the high scas™

During Sherff Turmers second
stretch in office, from 1929 1o 1933,
illegal alcohol and gambling operations
contnued to fourish in Browaed.
Ulccasionally, there would be a push to
curtail them, but such efforts were
generally shore-lived and relatively
ineffective. To be sure, when the
availability of liquor in the county
cavsed problems for the Shenff, he
would someomes be forced o ke
action. One tme thar this happened
was after a gas staton owner and his
wife were shot by tao men under the
influence of alcohol. The Sheriff
subsequently announced a major
campaign against the sale of liquor in
Beoward Counry. However, this was
only after the Governor of Florida,
Doyle E. Carlton, had become
involved, putting pressure on
Turner.™ Gambling was another
problem that persisted, despite the
well-publicized crackdown on
racetrack beming a few vears previously,
Sherff Turner's men would sometimes
conduct gambling raids — for example,
when two depudes, Albert Jones and
| A Gus™ Roberts, arrested nine men
in & rabd on a gambling establishment
outside of Hollywood, ™ But for the
mose part, gambling enterprises
contineed unabated in Broward
Counmy.

By March of 1930, violatons of
the vice laws had become so open in
Broward that the Fort Lauderdale
Woman's Chrstian Temperance Lnion
(WCTU) publicly denounced the
lawlessness which seemed 1o prevail
locally - in parncular, they complained
bitterdy about *the prevalence of slog
machines, gambling and boot-
legping”™ Several months later, upser
r__.. thiz situation, Governor Cacleon
went =0 far as o send Sherff Turnera
list of names and addresses of people
in Broward County who were known
ro be selling liquor, engaged in
bookmaking and other gambling
activities. The Shenff s Department, of
course, promised o take immediaw
acton,'™

Charfie Redes, [r. plrydng o et seackhine v
Reder Hoted, airen 1935,

Aside from sporadic enforcement
of the ant-gambling and Prohibition
laws, the duties of Turners depurnes
mostly  involved rthe routine
mamtenanee of law and order
throughout the county, Indeed, some
of their enforcement effors reflected
community concerns with crimes that
today would be considered 1o be the
responsibility of other law enforce-
meent agencies. The financial problems
faced by Flonda dunng the Depression
caused the siaite o cut back an
personnel in these other agencies,
leaving the sheriffs vo ke up the slack.
One result was shenffs and their
deputies were made responsible for
various routine fish and game arreses
during this pedod. In one instance, a
“harbor rud”™ by a Broward ..._,__.mE__...
shenff received a grear deal of public
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attention and widespread support.
Depury Viegil Winghr commandeered
a boar, and arrested cight fisherman
for illegally neting fish within a mile
of the Port Everglades inler. Their four
boats and nets were seized, along with
about 2,000 pounds of mackerel and
other fish. It was reported that many
prominent individuals connecred with
sport fishing showed up in court when
the eight lawbreakers were areigned.
This was clearly a simanon in which
public sentiment had pressured the
Broward Sheriff s Office 1o ke action
to provect the county’s courism trade, ™

Although aleohol was the mind-
alering substance most likely 1o appear
in Shenft s Department reports of this
period, “drugs” had also begun 1o
show up occasionally. For example, in
one telegram sent by Shenff Turner,
he referred o a female prisoner as a
“dope fiend."™ And from a 1929
newspaper report of a hold-up by
“highwaymen"” on Dixie Highway, it
was clear that this crime was relared 1o
drugs. It seems thar a doctor from
Alabama was driving to a medical
conference in Miami when his car was
forced to the side of the road. There,
he was robbed at gunpoint by three
young men who addressed him as
“Doctor™ and demanded thar he give
them “dope.”™™*

An unusual crime, one which
caused a great deal of controversy in
Broward County, occurred in October
1929, when nine unknown men used
dynamite to blow a H-foot gap in West
Dixic Highway. This blast, heard for
several miles, released a large volume
of floodwarer thar had backed up west
of the highway™ Two hours later, six
musked and heavily armed men held
at punpoint the special deputy assigned
vo guard a Middle River Drainage
Diserict dike, while they cut a hole in
the dam 1o release the warers it was
holding back.™

It was suspected thar the culprits
were farmers who owned land west of
the highway, men whose farms had
been flonded for oo weeks when the
normeal flow of Aoodwater o the New
River was blocked, Earlier threars wo
blow up the road and several dikes had

led Sheriffl Turner to assign special
deputies to protect the Drainage
Disrrice’s dams, but he had specifically
ordered the special deputies not w use
their firearms™

The destruction of the dike and
part of West Dixie Highway afforded
some relief to the farmers in the west,
but it also released flood waters onto
the lands of farmers o the ease (who
were wealthier and had more political
cloutr than their counterparts further
inland). At first, county officials
seemed inclined to ke no action.
Shenff Turner had risen from a sick
bed ro rake charge of the sinsnon, but
his main focus was on preventing any
further vinlence, The Shenff had made
no arrests, and it didn’t appear that he
would be making any:, At the same time,
the County Commuissioners announced
that they had no immediate plans o
repair the gap in the road, and they
even refused permission for the
Deainage Diserict to further block the
release of floodwarers™

Under these circumstances, the
castern farmers felt it necessary to
make an appeal directly o rhe
Governor, complaining thar the
Shenfi was not enforcing the low Ina
telegram sent 1o Governor Carlon,
they claimed that “wanton mob
destruction” had released food waters
onto land they had planted, and
although the drainage diserict had
finally repaired the dike, threars against
it were again being made openly, The
tebegram stared, in part, thatan “appeal
has been made to the sheriff for
adequate protection, m investgare and
apprehend participants in this lvwless
mish, He refuses to perform his duty
and take necessary steps. We therefore
appeal to you, as our governor, to ke
all immediare measures 1o protect us
and compel law enforcement in
Broward Counry” At the same time,
according o a newspaper report,
officials at the Drainage Dismict “made
official demand upon Turner, as high
sheriffl of Broward County, to
investigare these erimes” and o
apprehend the guilty parties. Unless he
did so, the officals threarened, they
would “seck redress o higher
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powers,

Immediately after the complatnes
abour Turner's failure ro act had
reached the Governor, Broward's wop
lawman announced that he and his
deputies had actually been quite busy
investigating the destruction of the
dike and the damage done o the road.
His department had, the Sheriff
ingisted, been quietly working o gather
evidence against the puilty paroes, and
as a result, there would soon be several
arrests made.™  Not long afier six
farmers, all of whose farms lay west
of West Dixie Highway, were
arrested.™  They were charped with
dynamiring the highway and damaging
the drainage dike, Thetr mial ook place
on Jameary 24, 1930, The six men were
acquitted by the jury, a verdict ordered
by the judge, who cited the state’s
failure to connect any of the men with
the crime.'”

Tt was durng Sherff Tumer's lasi
term in office thar, for the first nme,
newspapers mendoned “detecrive”
work  inm conjuncoion  with
investiganons being conducted by his
department. Under the headline,
“SHERIFF WARS ON ROBBERS”
a local paper desenbed how a “band
of MNegro robbers” was broken up.
*apecial detecoves and deputies from
the office of the shenff™ nvesdgated
recent robberies in Broward, and
tratled the enminals to Niami, where
they were arrested,™

There were a number of other
cases handled by the Broward Sheriff's
Office thar also caughr the public's
attention during Turner’s 1929-1933
term in office. In several instances,
hevwever, the attenton was occasioned
by incidents rhat were a  bit
embarrassing for the department.
Certainly there was widespread
amusement when the infamous “pants
burglar,” who had been pilfering panes
throughour Forr Lauderdale, broke
into the home of Deputy Shenff R, B
MeDonald and made off with his
trousers. The deputy reporied that
when he awoke, his pants were gone,
but in an apparent attempt 1o save face,
McDonald also climed that the only
things in his pockers were a nickel and
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a slot-machine slug, The reason for his
possession of the lamer, however,
apparently went unguestioned,'™

Another embarrassing incident
was reported by the local press in this
manner; “Sheriff AW, Turner had
eighty sacks of choice liquor stored in
the courthouse here, *Had' is righe. He
docsn’t have it now!” The newspaper
article went on 1o explain that the
“booze burglars™ broke into the
building in which the Sherff's office
was located and made off with 480
quarts of the finest spirits. And making
matters even worse, the thieves then
drove their car across the courthouse
lawn and destroved the flower beds!
Although there was a considerable
amount of liguor left behind, the
thicves apparently got away with o
automobile—loads of booge™

The theft of confiscated liquor
right from under his own nose had 1o
be particularly galling for Sheriff
Turner, who had always condemned
the consumpuon of aleoholic
beverages as a ternble sodal evil. There
wene, of course, some very real polical
benefits o be gained by the Shenlf in
portraying himself as a supporter of
the anti-aleohol laws, Indeed, Turner
had first been elected Shenff ar a ome
when the “dry™ spirit was very strong
in Broswvard, This was the same election
in which Sidney Johnston Cats, o
Baptist minister, was chosen as
Crovernor in Florida, the stare’s only
chief execunive ever elected on the
Prohibitionist Party ricker. None-
theless, in spite of whar might appear
to be somewhar lackadaisical
enforcement efforts during his last
vears in office, it 15 quite possible rhat
Turner’s support of Prohibition
actually reflected his own personal
beliefs. For whatever reason, Sheriff
Turner always :::cpn:ﬁs.n:d SrONgE anti-
alcohol sentments. Thus, it was
frustrating to him when accusations
were made that it was lax security that
had allowed the “booze burglars™ 1o
raidd the Shenff s own office, And it was
cerminly embarrassing when a federal
prisoner in the Broward County jail
somehow managed o get drunk. This
incident resulted in a complaint being

lodged by the Director of the Burcau
of Prisons in Washington, The Shenft
angrily responded that if the pnsoner
had received any liquor, it must have
been given 1o him by either his lvayer
or by the federal puard who had
rransported him o the jal He added,
somewhat sarcastically, “1 have always
treated Federal prisoners the same as
our own County prisoners and that 1s
not by serving them with liguor!™™

In order to publicize the
Prohibition enforcement activities of
his department, Sheriff Tumer would
sometimes hold “teasing parnes” (a
tradivion started by Paul Bryan in
15922, At these events, Turner would
make a public display of pounng out
omto the ground some of the choicest
of confiscated aleoholic beverages,
thus teasing the unreformed “wers™ in
the crowd who undoubtedly had much
berter things in mind for such elixirs,
However, one such “reasing parmy™
murned our 1o e more uncomforable
for the Sheriff than for those it was
intended 1w upset. In the yard of the
Broward County courthouse, Turner
and several of his depunes had juse
finished pouring our numerous bodes
of the best imported beverages, and
the area was awash in fine liquor.
Dunng this actvity, the Sherff had
been smoking a pipe and when a few
ashes fell 1o the alcohol-satarared
ground, this started 2 fire that rapidly
spread into the drinage tap in the
courthouse garage. According 1o a
local newspaper report, it was only the
quick use of a fire extinguisher by
Deputy Campbell - the former
fireman — that saved the day, and
avonded the further embarmssment of
having o call the Fort Lauderdale Fire
[Deparmment.™

Sometimes the affairs of the
Shenft s Office gained publicity in the
form of what we mighr moday refer o
as a “human interest” story, For
example, Turners safl was closely
involved in Broward's first counry
courthouse marriage of a Native
American couple. OF course,
participation in this ceremony wasn't
entrely volunmary on the part of the

groom. As one newspaper reported,

“Lonnic Buck, 25-vear-ald Creck
Indian who has been in the county jal
since Thursday becavuse of his aversion
tor marriage, this morning decided the
bonds of matrimony were less
confining than the bonds of the laa; ., ™
Lonnic Buck had been jailed ar the
request of the local Indian agent, who
discovered thar he had been living with
an Indian woman on the reservadon
without benefit of mardage. However,
when they both agreed to marry as a
condition for Buck’s release, the
courthouse ceremony was armanged.
The couple was marned by the county
judge before a large crowd, and they
had as official wirnesses to thelr union,
one of Sheaff Turners depures, as
well as Sara Freeman, the Sherfif's
bookkeeper. The only discordant notes
were  the  less-than-flattering
description of the bnde, Lena Huff,
as “neat but gaudy, ina wedding gown
of approximarely 75 vards of calico of
various colors, predominantly bright
red,” and the reported observanon thar
the groom did not seem 1o greatly
enjov the whole affair™

Another unhappy oceupant of the
Broward County jail during this time
was "Doc™ St Clair, a self-proclammed
practitoner of magic and voodooism.
His incarceraton stemmed from the
sale of certain “magic powders™ that
failed to live up w the promises that
he made concerning their efficacy.
According 10 a newspaper report of
St Clairks arrest, a local resademt hoad
paid the voodoo man “12 hard-earned
United Stares dollars™ for a magic
ponon, and it just hadn't produced the
cxpected results. One can imagine the
disillusionment of the poor victim
when he found out that he wasn't able
to “kill anybody he wanted o withow
fear of detection,” or even to
“manufacture and sell all the lir.luur he
desired withour any interference from
the sherff.” Bur the final scraw was
when the would-be Romeo discovered
that the powder didn't enable him “ro
win any woman he wanted by merely
throwing some of the magic powder
over his left shoulder with his right
hand and repearing the name of the
girl he desired,"™™
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During this period, Flonda law
enforcement officials became involved
in what can only be called a “vendema™
agrainst 1 well-knewen Chicago pangsrer,
attempting to force him to leave the
state, When Al *Searface”™ Capone got
out of prson in 1930, he headed for
the Sunshine Stare, But Governor
Carlton decided that he didn't want
Capone anywhere in Flonda, He sent
telegrams 1o Sherff Turner and the
other sheriffs throughour the sare,
ordering the gangster’s immediate
arrest if he showed up in their
jurisdictions. The Governor’s message
was quite clear: “It is reported that Al
Capone 15 on his way 1o Florida. Arresy
promptly if he comes your way and
escort him o stare border with
instructicons not to return. He cannot
remain in Flonda,"™™ Three days later,
however, a federal judge issued an
injunction forbidding Florida sheriffs
from carrving out the Governor's
order,™

Capone quictly moved ino a newly
purchased home in Miami on Easter
Sunday, 1930, saying that he was there
“for a rest which 1 think 1 deserve,™
The reaction in M was quick and
furious, and city officials obviously
didn't agree that Capone deserved any
respite, threatening him with arrest on
sight, The Dade County Grand Jury
also jumped into the fray, denouncing
Capone and saying that “we endorse,
command and urge all legitimate
efforts to exterminate from this
community what clearly appears 1w be
a cancerous growth of organized
crime."™* As a result of pressure from
local officials, Al Capone was arrested
several imes on spunous charges,
although his attorney was able to
dispose of these quite casily,

It was clear to Al Capone that he
was unwelcome in Miami, but Broward
a.]:]h,-nmd to b a bit more hospimble.
The chief official in Oakland Park, for
example, made 1t known that the
Chicagro gangster would be more than
welcome in his city. Mayor | I
Hawkins made a public announcement
that “if Al Capone desires o live in
Flonda, he can come o Oakland Park. . .
Our city offers many atteactions 1o

prospective residents. , . While 1 donot
approve of Capone’s actions as
reported in newspapers and magazines,
his past does aot concern me. [ have
known hundreds of so-called
‘undesirables” who later became useful
cinzens. Oakland Park is a city of
opportunity,™™

_If. ﬂr].l Tr F [u'.u'.ﬂ:'n.l
Mayor of Oubland Park.

As rempring as this inviraton
might have been, Capone apparently
decidid 1o butld a mansion for himself
a little further north, on a quiet and
isolated finger of land extending out
from Boca Raton into the Hillsboro
Canal. Although he had taken an
option on 50 acres of this land, the
resistance of Boea Raton officials
caused him to change his mind and his
plinned home was never buil. In 1952
a canal was cut through this peninsula,
creating an island (in Broward County)y
and this came 1o be known as “Capone
Fsland.™™  More recentdy, this picce
of land was officially renamed
“Dieerhicld Island,™

While their boss was busy
shopping for real estare, members of
Al Capone’s mob had been creating
serious problems for Browand County's
Sheriff, A series of burglaries in Dania
had baffled the local police, and SherifT
Turner assigned Deputy Sheriff
“Hobb™ Campbell 1o the case. With
night parrolman Horace Mathews of
the Dania Police Department,
Campbell mainmained long night vigils,
and this mctic eventually paid off. One

maorning, at about dawn, they noticed
a car driving around the business
district in Dania, finally stopping at a
fruir seore on Dixie Highway. When the
store was broken ino, Campbell and
Mathews drove up to the scene. The
burglars attempted o escape in their
car, which had been left with its moror
running, bur they were apprehended,
Three men and a woman were arrested,
At thetr hearing, charpes against the
woman were dropped and one man
bonded out, However, two of the men
— Dan Collins (a/k/a “Dapper Dan™
Colling, Blowser Walsh, John Lecger,
the “Kincaid Kid,” ete.) and A, Pond
{a/k/a Roy Rogers), both of Chicago
—were unable 1o make bond, and were
held for tial in the Broward County
jail.™ During their stay ar this faciliry,
Jatler A. I Marshall decided o0 move
the prisoners 1w the third floor of the
jail, in order thart they might be puarded
maore closely, T was during this move
that six hacksaw blades were
discovered in Pond™s possession.
MNeedless to say, from that point on, a
very stroict watch over the two men was
maintained in order to thwart any
escape arrempt.™

However, this was not the end of
the story. Three days later Sheniff
Turner received a threatening leter.
This anonymwois note, on SEionery
from a horel in Miami, read as follows:
“Sheaff Turner — Fort Lauderdale, Fla
— dpnng Dan Collins and A, Pond
before Saturday night or take the
conscquences.” The Shenff, in
reporting the arrival of this threar,
announced publicly that, “Let there be
no doubis — when Saturday night has
passed, Dan Colling, Blowser Walsh or
whatever his mume 15, and Pond - will
still be in my custody up there in
jail."™  The next day, another
anonymous message reached Tuener,
and the Shenff claimed thar although
he really didn’t mind the foolish threats,
he was annoved that they were sent
cafierd, because this cost him money!
“Why don't they eome up here and do
something instead of bombarding me
with all these letters and relegrams?™
asked the Shenff, "Why not a lintle

more action and less mllke""™



Just 1o be on the safe side, however,
in case any gangsters might acrually
decide 1o ke him up on his inviiation,
Sheriff Turner ordered immediae
machine gun and pistol pracuce for his
depurties. “We have one of the lamest
things in machine guns,” the Shenff
claimed, “a Thompson submachine
gun capable of firing 250 shows per
minute, and what is more, we have an
expert machine gun wielder and plenry
of ammuniton to go along with "
{The expert to whom Tumer referred
was [Deputy Albert Jones, who had
been trained in the use of machine
puns while a law enforcement officer
in Hlinoie)™ This precaution rurned
out 1o be unnecessary, however, and
Collins and Pond remained in jail undl
their tnal two months laer, when they
were acquitted.™

But aside from these oceasional
moments of high drama, the work of
the Shenffs Office was usually quite
routing. In fact, an examination of his
correspondence during this period
would indicare that Teener himself was
often bogged down in minutiae.
Dealing with other agencies on minor
matters was one sk thar consumed
much of the Sheriff's time. For
example, in Apnl 1929, Tuener had o
write to the Chief of the US.
Immigration Department com-
plaining aboue an Immigration agent’s
failure to comply wath Flondas velicle
repistraton kv The Shenff wrote that
it is very embarrassing to me to have
your man drving [all] over the county
with an old license tag as 1 have
instructions from the Governor o
enforce this law in every case.” Turner
also inquired of that federal official
whether any distinction should be
made between agents in his
department who might violate the law
in Broward and ordinary citizens of the
county who might do the same™

Fven mouchier was having o deal
with the ire of the 5t Lucke County
Commissioners, who sent Shenff
Turner a protest resolution that they
piassed in October 1931, Their
complaint was made quite elear in the
words of the resolution: “Authorities
i certain counties on the Bast Coast

of Florida, South of St Luce County,
have announced thatr it is their
intention w0 ransport or dump alleged
undesirable parties oF vagranes {rom
such county or counties in a Northerly
direction, . . . bonging into St Luce
County the partics so transported.”™
Such an accusation would be a difficult
one for the Sherff o deny, becavse it
wag absolutely true. In fact, for at bease
rwo years prior, the Broward Shenff's
Dreparmment had played an actve role
in doing just what the 5t Lucie
Commissioners found so objection-
able. The “*Hobo Special™ was a
nickname given to the coordinated
movement of “undesirables™ from
Miami to points north, carned our by
the police depanmments and shenff’s
offices along the way. Police in Miami
would round up vagrants and other
petty offenders and transport them o
the Dade County line. There Broward
sherff s deputies would pick them up
and deliver them o the northern
boundary of their counry, where Palm
Beach depurics would take over,
moving them further north, In one
rwvo-week penod alone, itwas reported,
the Broward Sheriffs Office moved
over 1IN vagrants from county ling to
county line.™
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For Sherlf Turnet, it muse have
sometimes seemed thar there was no
end to the petty problems and dispunes
that he had 1o handle. For example, a
letrer signed by the Chief of the
Criminal Department for the
Hillshorough Shenfi™s Office alleped
that the Broward Sheriff's Office had
overcharged that department, billing
them for a service they didotwante. In
arresting a man on behalf of the
Hillsborough department, Broward
officers had his car towed. Referring
back to the letter requesting that the
arrest be made, the Hillsborough
officer insisted that nothing was
mentoned about the car. Therefore,
Shenff Turner was requested 1o resolve
this obvious injustce and send a refund
check — for $2.501%

Cither equally weighty correspon-
dence included a letter from the Flonida
Attorney General, telling Sheriff
Tumer that in any upcoming elecaons,
he would have 1w refrain from piving
away pencils and blomers with his
polincal message on them — giving a
vorer a pencl would, in the Attorney
General’s opinion, constitute an
attempt 1 buy his vore.™ Then there
was the Release Order
signed by Shenff Turner
on February 13, 1930 -

".--_._.—- H
?_.%;_a--' freedom ks, of course, 4
= — very precious thing and

on that day, the Shenff

of Broward County,

sitting in his court-

house office in the

county seat, signed a

um document releasing

from custody all 21

of Mrs. Mears'
chickens. ™

It 15 clear thar

much of Sheriff

Turmer’s ome was

taken up with

some less than

monumental

affairs of his

Latter frame the Fiariks Attermey Cremenal
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office. However, some of these  which be neted §5,374 for himself, was  the Sheriff and he was angry. In early
relaovely minor maners scem o reflect 10 be his best vear. For the vears 1929 July, Fort Lauderdale residents were
the basic decency of the man whowas 10 1931, the Sheriffs Office had an  shocked 10 pick up their daily papers
Browand's firer Shenff In July 1929, for  average annual net of $3.300 - slmost  and see the result of the Shenffs ire
cxample, Turner wook the time wowre  all of which was anributable 10 3 reflocted in this headbne: “SHERIFF
o a shenff in (eorgia on behalf of 2  relatively lange “profit™ on feeding  THREATENS TO SHUT DOWN
man bewng held m the Broward County  pososcrs. ™ COUNTY JAIL™ In the amicle tha
mil. Apparcntly the prisoner had “a In the fourth vear of Tamners final  folkmnd, ot v reported that Shenff
Brtle money” owed o him whenbe was — werm, the financial sinsation for the  Turner had notified the Broward
arrestod, and Temer askhod bes Geoeges Browand County Shenffs Office County Commissioners thar unless
counterparn o visit the prsoncr’s old  became desperate. The Shenff was  Affangements were made w0 pay the
boss i order 1 “get the Bride bar char highly dependent upon county fees for  ™oncy owed him by Awgust 1, 1932,
is due him and send it w0 me”™ The mcome, but many ressdenes didn’t have he would close the counry jail on thar
amount, the Beoward Shenff said was  money enough 1o par ther taxes, and  date and set the prisoncrs free™ He
ahout $4.50 or sa™ the county was going beoke! When  abo informed Governor Cardon of his
Whether handling matters irpe or ~ Browand County’s definguent rax sale  intention 1o release the prisoners on
small, momentous or inconsequential,  was held in Auguse 1932, almast two- %Ei;ﬂﬂ
one central concern of Shenff Turner  thinds of the property in the county my credit o carey the couny
during this period was the fiscal well-  was put up for sale for unpaid mxes.  and spending money out of my own
being of the Broward County Sheriffs  Aecording to a local newspaper repory,  pocket 10 feed prsoners and run the
Office. Those were financially roubled  despite every effort on the part of  office,” he wrore, “T feel thar | am
times and budgets were lean, Andover  county officials 1o collect the previous  justified in taking this action,"
the course of Turmers four vears in  year's taxes, only abour one-third had e immediate consequence of
office following his election in 1928,  boen paid, and as a result the remaining  Sherff Tuener’s threat was that the
things got progressively worse. Police 65 percent of Broward County real  Broward County count system began
deparumenis across the statc were  estate was 10 *go under the auctoncers 10 dispense some very rapid - and
forced 1o seduce their personnd rosiers hammer on Monday at noon.™™ pethaps very questionable — “justice.”
as an cconomic move, and in some In carly 1932, Tumner appesled to  The Grand Jury was hastly recomvencd
Broward Shenff s Department would  that the counry at that time owed him  prisoners. The following week, a
abo be affected, but sheniffs in Flonda — over $3000 and asking for advice as o $pecial session of the Broward Circuit
had a lirtle more control over their  how be might collecr the funds thar  Count was held for the miaks of those
budgets than did most local police  were due bam. The Sheriff wrose, “e  the Grand Jury had charged. A the end
ETKE li!ﬂﬂ!ij& lilﬂ!ﬁhE!ﬂ!-ﬂn
LU'naler Flonds bvar o effecy ar dhar EEE‘EEE EEIEE!.—
per mx, bust inntead worked on the “fee way | can get the money = from the  bappened: “CIRCUIT COURT
system.” Each sheniff n the stare was  couny. | have tned every way possible  JURIES GO ONGUILTY” SPREE™
responuble for the cxpenses of his 10 get the commissioners 1o rase  — 12 defendants were med and there
office, with mcome coming in pamanly  enough money © pay me.™™ was a 100 percent conviction rate.
from fees chasped 10 the county for In spite of the difficulties which Sentences of nine moaths 1 20 years
vanous services, with some small  the county’s financial conditon was were handed down by the judge. And
additional amounts coming from causing him, Broward County’s first all of the n_nE-EH.lﬂ-n mﬂ....ﬂ..lﬂ..u
attomcy fees for serving papers, from  Sheriff wanted 1o remin his posiion ' Penal servitude in stare prson, so
the fees paid by other sheriffs for  and thus he ran for the nomination in 1At if the Sherff were to shut down
making arrests o m their behalf, and 50 the Democratic primary in June 1932, the county jail, none of those
forth. (For example, when Sheriff  Although he had been one of the rwo  €Onvicted would be set free.™
Turner first took office in 1915, he was  favorites in a field of eight, A, W, Then, on August 1, 1932, a federal
paid one dollar for every arrest he  Turncr lost out in the first round of  judge also gor into the act. Judge
made.)?™  After expenses were  voting, coming in third, When the Halsted L. Ritter of the Unired States
deducted from the total income of his  runoff primary was held, his name District Court in Miami made a public
office, whatever “net” remained was  didn't even appear on the ballor Turner — announcement that if the Broward
the Sheriff's “salary™ for the year™  thus served his last six months inoffice  Sheriff closed his jail, he would send
OF the last four vears Sheriff a5 a “lame duck™ shenff ™ the LL & Marshal 1o Broward County
Turner was w be in office, from 1929 By this time the county " arrost the Shenff™ This would not,
w 1932 inclusive, the first year, in - commission was $4,000 in arrcars o unforrunarcly, be the st ume thar 2
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federal judge would threaten 1o jail a
Broward County Sheriff,

The County Commuissioners finally
did release a small amount of money
o Shenff Turner, and he never carned
ot his threat 1o close the jail. However,
he was forced to cut back on the
services provided by his office, and in
bare August 1932, a newspaper report
indicated that “no expense fees, no
arrests — is Shenff AW Tumer’s policy
from now onl™ This policy was
announced when the County
Commissioners were abour 34,000 1n
arrears on the Shenft's fioes, but before
the vear ended, they would owe Turner
almost 57 (062

Shenff Turner had been wld that
the reason the County Commissioners
were unable to pay him was becawse
there was no money left in the Fine
and Forfeiere Fund. ™ Bur char fund
had been quite robust for years after
the “wirctappers™ case pumped
S20, N into it an 1922] How could all
of thar money posably be spent so
quickly? And on what? The answer
wt given in o Forf Laudendale Dty Newst
editonial published in November 1931,

Browand Cosnty Sheriff
Woadter Clark
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There it was pointed our that the three
murder tmals of William A, Hicks and
related investigations had cosr the
county  more than  §30,000,
Expenditures for the Hicks case,
described at thar dme as the most
expensive single case in South Flonda
history, had completely wiped our the
Fine and Forfeiture Fund! ™ Thus
the financial hardships thar Sherff
Turner and his department had o
endure were largely the result of what
many viewed as a vendeom against “Big
Bill" Hicks, one thar had been
conducted by the Broward Shenff’s
OMfice in concert with the County
Commissioners and other officials,
Ironically, one of the fees that Shenff
Tumer fad been able o eollect from
the County Com-mission was $39.58
for “Carrying Bill Hicks o Dade
County for mial" 2*

When he left office, Aden W,
Tumer had spent a total of 10 and a
half years as Sheriff of Broward
County. He had been the first 1 hold
that position and he established many
puidelines for that office which would
continue into subsequent administra-
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n 1932, Broward County’s firse

sherift had been beaten ar the
polls by a political newcomer. The man
who would replace Aden W Turner as
the counry’s chief law enforcement
oifficer was a local buarcher who had
gained a reputation for honesty. Viorers
apparently wanted a change and were
hoping to escape the problems and
scandals thar had plagued the
administrations of Broward's first roo
sheriffs. Walrer R. Clark, the popular
voung man who would now be the
county’s top lawman, would hold office

mions. His suspension by Governor
Hardee was quite possibly unfair, for
there were no charges ever made thar
sugpested Turner was in any way
corrupt — in sharp conrrast to the
shenff who succeeded him in 1922,
and also the one who succeeded him
after his last erm in office. Turner was
also unformunate in that his second full
term as Brovward County Shenff came
at a time when the county was
approaching near financial ruin.
During his rime in office, Shenff
Turner :ppﬂ.n:mh 5upph_mcmcd his
income by mainmaining a used car
dealership. e Although the name he
assigned to this business might not
conjure up an image of high quality
vehicles, it certainly would be easy
enough to remember = an occupational
license application mailed in 1929 was
addeessed o Turner ar the “Aurn
Boneyard” in Fort Lauderdale,®®
After leaving office, he 13 reported
have returned to farming, becoming
inactive after a serous illness in 1937,
Aden Warerman Turner died ar age 75
in his Fort Lauderdale home on
December 13, 19402 ©

' E E R E EED R EEEE DR BN

longer than any other Broward shenff
before or after him., U nfortunately, his
lengthy enure in office would also
bring 1o the Sheriff's Office some of
the worst scandals in its history, In
January 1933, when Turner mmed over
the Shernffs Office to Clark, the
county’s residents could not have
anticipated that they would have wo wait
another three and a half decades
before the Broward Sheriftfs Office
would finally begin to shake off the
corruption which had first come 0o
light during the *Roaring Twenties."©
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marshals sre suilvorsed o ceecuae all ol
the processes sl mandaies of & clry cour,
bt ity gomorally div piod carry weapns
Moreower, i addidon o min betngg poliee
officers, they are nob slways soconbol com
the starus of “poice ol o]

132 Lester, “Justice of the Peice W A Hicka”

133, Fort L aawaleraba Iy Nows, ooy 15, 1900

1L B, Mervwmiber T, 1938,

135, Paud C. Bryan lerrer w0 WO Bryanr, Masch
M, PR

136. Fmancual reports sabmitnesl s S
Comperaller by the Browand Shendf's
Chificr.

157, Forr Lamuderdad Dhady Nows, Swpuembser 14,
192% Alsrch 25 192 Fimenciil sopesis
sighmariod o Siste © compercller by the
Brssard Shordi o iy

VW Foer Lamubodad Ml “own Ayt 4, 1959,

L Bl Aspess &, 1929

(T e—y .

L B, A 3, 120,

2 B, Aagpns 12, 1929,

14N [l Seprember 11, 1920

T [l

145 [, Sepeember 14, 19290,

lidh, [, Sepermlacs 19, 1920,

147, lled. Sepiember 0, 1920,

i, fid, Sosember 7, 1929,

P, i, Movember B, 1939, [Noie: On
wccamson, Shenff Adoa W Torser
o theat bempecrs ey betmer coumard,
derrris Cammeng frwr proklcee foof w4
cans s el wwrind, bowever, wnsemom
a bowad bra | ssirndalr srwpape = o
mally consld ber & bor weersr Bt sewess tha
by “Sberref] Taamscr e oot w8 Towms,
sl b 3 prrecmee] probiem. Chbe wf
S Fasprae Tirnes's depumes bhewnd tha
& ey dopuri, v bad boroese 5 federal
Predubaresn offwrr b mmde s sy
mEmarls shvowr be e dav, dhe s s
Sl e et ehar e s e -
ey beorh reached or thor pams, snd m rhe
H. abraemer, Dmwh mep wonn bellid
Frarnanatchy, 8 mover poe e dhan bl for
Pevrwand’s Sherfl Tunner! - [amdedad
Dy M, (honlser 7, I'!H‘

S0, D, g 17, 1929,

150, Fal, Jaary Z7, 1925

152 Sousrr Mclver, “Browsnds Only Legal
Fsccution,” in Chapies of Seath Flids
Hiestwry

158, Forr awoleralole Dy News, Junmary 37, 1928

1540 Diwal, Augguss 3, 1939,

1585, Loiterof Halsied 1 Riiter fo A W Tuier,
Jusly 19, 1929,

136, Pt Lavseraale Pty Newes, July 1B, 1021,

157, Disdl, August 6, 1929,

158, [wal, Auggust 12, 1920,

159, Naal, Nuguss 16, 1929,

10, [l gt D, 1929, aned Aagnase 17, 1929,

181, Jhad, Mgt 16, P92,

161 [, Mosgusse 17, 1920,

TR [, Dhgtoher 3, 1929,

filh, [, Mowember 11, 1929,

Ia5. [dd, Manch 19, M0

Tl Lawer o A W Tormer s Comyrmes Dosls
E Carloon, Anguse 6, 1750

167, o Lol Dy Miows, March 21, 1TAL

HA Telegrom of A W Torser to Chicl of
Pobsce, Nrismes Cevngss (dur onknesn)
.

ML B, Chonndierr 71, TR,

71 e, Ohondery 22 1539,

T2 B, Ovconbeer 31, 1929
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173, fivd, Oxsolser 22, 1920,

174, I, Onolser 25, 1929,

175, fivd, Ocsober 26, 19290,

176, fid, Jarsuary 24, 1930,

177, I, Janmary 25, 1930,

17R. fhia, July 26, 1932

179, Ied, Onober 2, 1940,

180 Mg, June &, 1950

181, Leoer of A W Thenmer 1o Sanfond HBaes,

Mawember 5, 1930,

Far? Lamalwdale FHernld, October 3, 1922; faw

Paawderdae Davly News, Jume M), 1951,

Fard Lawdirabade Datly Mews, Apeil 29, 1929,

1584, fiwal, Mlanch 27, 1930,

185, fivd, March 19, 1905,

186, fivad, Apal 25, 195,

187, fisd, Apad 21, 1950,

188, Ml Apnl 25, 19

159, Alfeerd Flrall Narch 201, 195,

15948, Snian Melver, “Searfaoe: The Man Fheida
Deibn’t Wana," i Colmpary of Sewtly [fordds
sty

191, Farr Lawderdade Dadhy News, Apsil 2, 1930,

192 fiwal, March 18, 1940,

193, fied, Mlarch 20, B9,

194, [, March 21, 19N,

195. Fival, Slanch 20, 19

190, Fivid, May 26, 19,
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183,

1,

114,

2
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202,

RS,

. | 7
205,

Letrer of A. W Tamer 1o | € Sheffield,
Apsil 4, 1920,

Resolutiom passed by the Board of Couwnty
Commasssomers, Sk Lucie Coninty, Florda,
oy Chornber 6, 1930, and sen no Sherfi A,
W Tatncr on Ostober 16, 1951,

. ot Lawderiale [Raify Miwes, Movember 5,

1930,

Letter of Lo ML Haptom, Jr g A W Tame,
Febraary 1, 19,

Letrer oof Cary T3 Lamdis o A, W Turner,
May 17, 1931

Rebewse Odrder signed by A W Turmer,
Felarugry 13, 1930

Letter o A, W Taraer o P k. Bidley, July
3, 1029,

Foot Daderilale Newfinel, Miovember 10, 1916,
The Broaard Sherfl did nor noccssardly
reccive the entiee “net™ of the Shenlf's
CMfice. The basis for his compensation
maght be best undersoa] by examining
Turner'’s own cxplanadon.  For the vear
1929, the Shenff reported total net receiprs
of $5,623.46 - in regard o this, Terser
stated: “hs the statutes show a sheefl b
enited 1o g aer imoomse of 85 000040 andd
suty et ceml of the next SHENLND of any
fraction thereof, | have grven the couwnty
commissioners & check bor 3249387 (From
A W Tuniser levier ol Jasmiary 15, 1940
millresscd v the Flonda Staie Compiroller,
Emest Amos)

2. Financial reports submiticd 1o Stawe
f:mup:lnlluq' 1I:|' the Bromgasd Shenilis
Ol

T. Pt Lamdendoly Dy Newer, July 30, 1932

208, Lemer of A, W Tuener g0 Cary T Landis,
Feberisary 3, 1932,

D, et Lamalewckad Doy Mewes, June B, 1932

2100, P, July 11, 1932,

21 1. Moo’ Fleealit, July 140, 1932,

212 Wt Laweniade Dhatdy Memea, Jialy 30, 1932

213, Moo’ Herwld, Auigust 3, 1953

21 Fewi Lawdersiale Doy News, August 27, 1932,

2% Financial repaorts sulmmived 1o Srane
Comperller by the Broward Shenff's
Oifice.

216, Leweer of A, W0 Tusner g0 Cary T Lamndis,
Feloraary 3, 1932

207, Vet Lamsdondale [haidy Newsw, Movember 12,
1931,

215 Financial repore submitied o Staic
Comptraller by the Broward Shenflf's
Ciiiice, for the period eoding [ume 30, 1501

21% Lenter  from  the Office of the
Commisstoner of Motor Vehicles, Suate of
Florida, we A W Tner, March 15, 1929,

2200, Leteer from the Tax Colloctor's Ofifiee, Ciey
af Fori Lasderdale, to A, W Tumer,
Sepeember M, 1929,

220, Vet Lasderdale [Datly Mews, December 13,
1740
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